Collective Agreement

Ontario Public Service Employees Union / Syndicat des employés de la function publique de l'Ontario on behalf of its Local 452

and

Queen's Family Health Team at Queen's University

DURATION: July 1, 2022 - June 30, 2025





Sector 10 4-452-10269-20250630-10

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE 1 - PURPOSE OF AGREEMENT	1
ARTICLE 2 – SCOPE AND RECOGNITION	
ARTICLE 3 – DEFINITIONS	2
ARTICLE 4 – NO HARASSMENT AND DISCRIMINATION	4
ARTICLE 5 – UNION DUES	6
ARTICLE 6 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	8
ARTICLE 7 - NO STRIKES OR LOCKOUTS	8
ARTICLE 8 – UNION REPRESENTATION AND COMMITTEES	9
ARTICLE 9 - DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE	12
ARTICLE 10 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	13
ARTICLE 11 – ARBITRATION	16
ARTICLE 12- HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME	18
ARTICLE 13 – JOB POSTINGS	21
ARTICLE 14 – PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEES	23
ARTICLE 15 – SENIORITY	25
ARTICLE 16 – CONVERSION OF TERM APPOINTMENTS TO CONTINUING APPOINTMENTS	20
APPOINTMENTS ARTICLE 17 – LAYOFF AND RECALL	
ARTICLE 17 – LATOFF AND RECALL	
ARTICLE 18 – LEAVES OF ABSENCE	
ARTICLE 19 – SICK LEAVE ARTICLE 20 – HEALTH AND SAFETY	
ARTICLE 20 - HEALTH AND SAFETY	
ARTICLE 21 – VACATIONS ARTICLE 22 – PAID HOLIDAYS	
ARTICLE 22 – PAID HOLIDAYS ARTICLE 23 – PENSION, HEALTH, and MEDICAL BENEFITS	
ARTICLE 24 - EARLY AND SAFE RETURN TO WORK	
ARTICLE 25 – ORGANIZATIONAL OR TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE	
ARTICLE 26 - TRANSPORTATION ALLOWANCE	
ARTICLE 27 – EMPLOYEE FILES	
ARTICLE 28 – PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT/ORIENTATION.	
ARTICLE 29 – MISCELLANEOUS	
ARTICLE 30 – JOB SHARING	66

ARTICLE 31 – SALARIES AND CLASSIFICATIONS	69
ARTICLE 32 – DURATION OF AGREEMENT	69
APPENDIX A: WAGES	70
APPENDIX B: TUITION SUPPORT PLAN	72
APPENDIX C: TUITION ASSISTANCE PROGRAM	75
APPENDIX D: SELF-FUNDED LEAVE	79
APPENDIX E: CHILD CARE BENEFIT PLAN	82
APPENDIX F: CHILD CARE BENEFIT PLAN	
APPENDIX G: SEVERANCE CHART	
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING RE: EI Premium Reduction	
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING RE: Salaries And Classifications	
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING Re: Recognition of Indigenous Peoples	
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING Re: Paid Fifteen (15) Minutes Breaks	
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING Re: After Hour Clinic Positions	
MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT WITH RESPECT TO PENSIONS	92
Schedule "A"	97

ARTICLE 1 - PURPOSE OF AGREEMENT

- 1.01 The general purpose of this Agreement is to:
 - a) secure the benefits of collective bargaining;
 - b) provide a method of settling any difference between the parties arising from the interpretation, application, administration or alleged violation of this Agreement; and,
 - c) to set forth the terms and conditions of employment applicable to employees in the bargaining unit and matters to be observed by the University and the Union.

ARTICLE 2 – SCOPE AND RECOGNITION

- 2.01 The Employer recognizes the Ontario Public Service Employees Union ("OPSEU/SEFPO") as the exclusive bargaining agent for all employees of Queen's University who are employed as Allied Health Care Professionals including Dietitians, Pharmacists, Social Workers and Registered Practical Nurses working in the Queen's Family Health Team (220 Bagot Street and Haynes Hall) Kingston, Ontario, save and except:
 - a) those employees engaged primarily in academic, research or educational programming;
 - b) clinical and non-clinical secretarial, clerical and administrative staff;
 - c) other professional medical staff;
 - d) Registered Nurses and Nurse Practitioners;
 - e) supervisors and those above the rank of supervisor;
 - f) students who are in training in an academic program;
 - g) students working during the summer vacation period;
 - h) those employees working less than 17.5 hours per week; and
 - i) persons covered by other collective agreements.

2.02 An employee who holds a temporary licence in accordance with their governing body and its regulations must obtain their certificate of registration prior to the expiry of their temporary certificate.

ARTICLE 3 – DEFINITIONS

- 3.01 In this Agreement, the following terms shall be defined as set out in this Article, unless contrary intention is expressly provided for elsewhere in this Agreement.
 - a) "Agreement" is the Collective Agreement between Queen's University at Kingston, Ontario and the Ontario Public Service Employees Union (OPSEU/SEFPO) and its Local 452.
 - b) **"Bargaining unit"** is defined as set out in Article 2: "Recognition and Scope".
 - c) "Bargaining unit member" or "employee" means a University employee who is included in the bargaining unit as defined in Article 2: "Recognition and Scope".
 - d) **"Calendar day"** means any day of the week including weekends and holidays unless otherwise specifically stipulated.
 - e) "Casual" is an employee who is not a member of the bargaining unit and one who works on an ad hoc basis, as required by the employer, does not have an ongoing fixed schedule, and may decline casual work.
 - f) "Department Head" refers to the senior administrative person responsible for the Family Health Team, Department of Family Medicine, Faculty of Health Sciences.
 - g) **"Employer"** or **"the University"** refers to Queen's University at Kingston, Ontario.
 - h) "Immediate family" means an employee's parent including a current step parent, spouse, partner, child including a child of the employee's current spouse, a sibling including a current step sister or current step brother, current mother-in-law, current father-in-law, grandparent or grandchild.

- i) "Local" or "Local Union" or "the Union" means OPSEU/SEFPO Local 452 representing the Bargaining Unit as defined in Article 2: "Recognition and Scope"
- j) "Manager" is the managerial, non-bargaining unit person who directs an employee's work or to whom an employee normally reports, or their designate.
- k) "Notice" Where notice is required by the terms of this Agreement, the notice required shall be as stated; however the Parties recognize that there may be extraordinary circumstances that make it appropriate to amend the notice period following discussion and agreement between the Union and the Employer.
- "OPSEU/SEFPO Staff Representative" as distinct from Union Representative/Steward, means a representative of OPSEU/SEFPO who represents the interests of the bargaining unit as the exclusive bargaining agent.
- m) "OPSEU/SEFPO" means the Ontario Public Service Employees Union.
- n) **"Parties"** are Queen's University at Kingston, Ontario and the Ontario Public Service Employees Union (OPSEU/SEFPO).
- o) **"Regular Full-time"** is an employee who normally works a regular schedule of thirty-five (35) hours per week.
- p) "Regular Part-time" is an employee who works a schedule of less than thirty-five (35) hours per week.
- q) "Spouse" or "partner" means the legally married spouse of an employee, or a person of the opposite or same sex who has continuously lived with the employee for a period of at least one year in a conjugal relationship outside marriage.
- r) **"Supervisor"** is a non-bargaining unit managerial representative who has day to day responsibilities for, and/or oversight of, the work of the bargaining unit.
- s) "Temporary" is an employee hired on a term and task basis

to replace an employee, to fill temporary vacancies as provided under article 13, or to perform work arising out of a new program which is funded for a fixed period of time. An employee hired on this basis shall be deemed to be in the bargaining unit; however, the parties agree that such interim replacement employee shall have no claim to the position temporarily filled.

- t) **"Term Appointment"** is an appointment for which a beginning and end date is clearly identified in the appointment letter, beyond which there is no guarantee or commitment of employment to the employee.
- u) **"Union Representative"** means the person who is designated by the Union to represent the members of the bargaining unit covered under the terms of the Collective Agreement.
- v) **"Working day"** means Monday to Friday, exclusive of holidays recognized by the University.

ARTICLE 4 – NO HARASSMENT AND DISCRIMINATION

- 4.01 The Employer and the Union agree that they will not discriminate against any employee, or intimidate, threaten, coerce or restrain any employee because of membership or non-membership, past or present, in the Union.
- 4.02 The parties are committed to creating and maintaining a working environment that is founded on the fair treatment of all members of the University community. Therefore, the parties do not condone behaviour that is contrary to the *Human Rights Code*, the University's *Harassment and Discrimination Policy*, or the *Occupational Health and Safety Act*.
- 4.03 Harassment in the workplace is defined as engaging in a course of vexatious comment or conduct against another person or persons in the workplace that is known or ought reasonably to be known to be unwelcome. It includes objectionable acts, comments, or displays that demean, belittle, or cause personal humiliation or embarrassment, and any act of intimidation or threat.

- 4.04 Harassment is not properly discharged supervisory responsibilities including performance evaluation, disciplinary action, day-to-day management of the operation, or conduct that does not interfere with a climate of understanding and respect for the dignity and work of Queen's University employees.
- 4.05 Employees found to have harassed or discriminated against another person(s) could face disciplinary action ranging from verbal warning up to and including termination.
- 4.06 The Employer agrees that information and training regarding harassment and discrimination is essential and will work with the Union to ensure bargaining unit members are provided with appropriate information and training about the University's discrimination and harassment policies and programs, which will include information about applicable legislation.
- 4.07 The parties agree that allegations of discrimination and harassment should be dealt with in a timely manner; therefore, allegations of discrimination and harassment will be investigated on a timely basis and in cases where harassment or discrimination is/are found to have occurred, the situation may be addressed through education or mediation, as may be appropriate to the specific circumstances of a case. Such education or mediation may be part of the informal resolution stage of the grievance procedure if the matter is pursued under that procedure.
- 4.08 The parties agree that the preferred method of handling complaints is to follow the procedures established by the University's Human Resources Department.
- 4.09 Alternatively, any allegation of discrimination or harassment in the workplace, including an allegation of *Code*-based discrimination or harassment, may be filed in accordance with the grievance and arbitration procedures set out in this Agreement.

- 4.10 An allegation of discrimination or harassment in the workplace, where the subject matter is not covered by the University's *Harassment and Discrimination Policy*, will, if not otherwise resolved, be processed as a grievance in accordance with the Collective Agreement.
- 4.11 If an allegation(s) pursued under the grievance procedure is against the person who would normally deal with the first step of such a grievance, the next level of supervision will hear the grievance.
- 4.12 In cases where sexual harassment may result in the transfer of a person, the complainant shall not be transferred against their will; unless otherwise agreed, it shall be the harasser who is transferred.
- 4.13 In dealings with the University on matters of personal or workplace harassment an employee who is a complainant or respondent has the right to be represented, and an employee who is a potential witness has the right to be accompanied, by a Union representative. At the complainant's, respondent's or witness' option, this person can be a qualified bargaining unit member appointed by the Union.

4.14 Safe Disclosure Reporting

Provided an employee has followed the University policy for safe disclosure reporting, employees will not be subject to reprisal for the reasonable exercise of their professional obligations, including those related to patient advocacy.

ARTICLE 5 – UNION DUES

- 5.01 The Employer shall deduct an amount equivalent to regular monthly Union dues for the term of this agreement according to the following conditions:
 - a) From the first day of employment, all employees covered by this Agreement shall, as a condition of employment, have deducted from their pay each month an amount equivalent to the regular monthly Union dues.
 - b) Union dues shall be remitted to the Union forthwith and in any event

no later than fifteen (15) days following the last day of the month in which the remittance was deducted.

- c) The Employer agrees when forwarding Union dues to submit a list indicating the names of those employees for whom deductions have been made as well as the names and dates of hire of new employees or terminated employees from the preceding month to the Union's Head Office, 100 Lesmill Drive, Toronto, ON: Attention Director of Finance, and a copy will be provided to the OPSEU/SEFPO Staff Representative, Region 4.
- 5.02 The Union will advise the Employer in writing of the amount of its regular dues. The amounts specified shall continue to be deducted until changed by further written notice to the Employer.
- 5.03 In consideration of the deducting and forwarding of Union dues by the Employer, the Union agrees to indemnify and save the Employer harmless against any claims or liabilities arising or resulting from the operation of this Article.
- 5.04 The Employer will record total Union dues deductions paid by each employee on their "T4 Statement of Remuneration Paid".
- 5.05 The Union must provide at least sixty (60) calendar days' written notice of any change in the monthly membership dues.

5.06 Information

Within thirty (30) calendar days a new employee will have the opportunity to meet with a representative of the Union designated by the Union and in the employ of the Employer during the employee's orientation period without loss of regular earnings. The purpose of the meeting will be to acquaint the employee with such representative of the Union and the terms of the Collective Agreement. Such meetings may be arranged collectively or individually for employees by the Employer as part of the Orientation Program. The Employer will provide to the Regional Office of OPSEU/SEFPO the names and addresses of new employees hired during the previous month.

ARTICLE 6 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

- 6.01 The Union recognizes that the management of Queen's University is fixed exclusively in the University and without restricting the generality of the foregoing, the Union acknowledges that, subject to the provisions of this Agreement, it is the exclusive function of the University to:
 - a) maintain order and efficiency;
 - b) plan, direct and control operations;
 - c) determine job requirements, work assignments, methods, hours of work, schedules, and standards;
 - d) determine the size, composition, and deployment of the workforce;
 - e) hire, appoint, classify, transfer, promote, demote, lay-off, suspend, discipline, or discharge, provided that a claim of discipline or discharge without just cause may be the subject of a grievance in accordance with the grievance procedure specified in this Agreement; and
 - f) establish, alter and enforce reasonable policies, guidelines, rules and regulations governing the operation of the University.
- 6.02 The University agrees that it will not exercise its rights set out in this Article in a manner that is inconsistent with the provisions of this Agreement and confirms its commitment to administer this Agreement such that it will not act in a manner that is arbitrary, discriminatory, or in bad faith. The Union agrees that the fact of the University exercising its rights under this Article shall not constitute harassment.

ARTICLE 7 - NO STRIKES OR LOCKOUTS

- 7.01 There shall be no strike or lockout during the term of this Agreement. The words "strike" and "lockout" shall be as defined in the *Labour Relations Act.*
- 7.02 During any legal strike or lockout involving Queen's employees in any other bargaining unit, or, involving non-Queen's employees represented by a

trade union that pickets at or near Queen's University property, the Union acknowledges that "sympathy strikes" are prohibited and will advise all members in its bargaining unit of such and that it remains the responsibility of those employees to attend at work as scheduled.

ARTICLE 8 – UNION REPRESENTATION AND COMMITTEES

8.01 Meetings

- The parties recognize the value of employees' input and participation in Committee meetings. All joint Employer-Union meetings shall be scheduled during the employees' regular working hours.
- b) The Employer agrees to pay for time spent during regular working hours for representatives of the Union to attend meetings with the Employer.

8.02 Employee Representatives

The employer agrees to recognize Union representatives and Committee members who are elected or appointed from amongst employees in the bargaining unit for the purpose of dealing with Union business as provided in this Collective Agreement.

8.03 Labour Management Committee

- a) There shall be a Labour Management Committee (LMC) comprised of two (2) representatives of the Employer and two (2) representatives of the Union appointed or elected by their respective parties.
- b) The LMC shall meet quarterly unless otherwise agreed. The duties of Chair and Secretary shall alternate between the parties. Where possible, agenda items will be exchanged in writing at least five (5) working days prior to the meeting. A record shall be maintained of matters referred to the Committee and the recommended disposition, if any, unless agreed to the contrary. Copies of the record shall be provided to Committee members and posted on the Union bulletin board.
- c) Terms of Reference for this committee will be jointly drafted and

agreed to as a standing item at the first meeting of the committee following ratification of the agreement.

- d) The purpose of the Committee includes:
 - (i) promoting and providing effective and meaningful communication of information and ideas;
 - (ii) discussing and reviewing matters relating to in-service programs and retention and recruitment;
 - (iii) reviewing professional responsibility issues in accordance with the practice, standards and requirements of each employee's regulatory body.

8.04 Negotiating Committee

The Employer agrees to recognize a Negotiating Committee comprised of up to a maximum of three (3) representatives of the Union, for the purpose of negotiating a renewal agreement. The Employer agrees to pay members of the Negotiating Committee for time spent in negotiations with the Employer for a renewal agreement, up to and including conciliation.

The Negotiating Committee will be provided with up to three (3) days or six (6) half days each for the purpose of preparing the union's proposals for collective bargaining, subject to the Employer receiving reasonable advance notice and operational needs.

8.05 Union Appointments and Contacts

- a) The Union shall keep the Employer notified in writing of the names of the Union representatives and/or Committee members and Officers of the Local Union appointed or selected under this Article as well as the effective date of their respective appointments.
- b) All reference to Union representatives, Committee members and Officers in this Agreement shall be deemed to mean Employee representatives, Committee members or Officers of the bargaining unit.
- 8.06 The Employer agrees to give representatives of OPSEU/SEFPO access

to the premises of the Employer for the purpose of attending grievance meetings or otherwise assisting in the administration of this Agreement, provided prior arrangements are made with the Employer. Such representatives shall have access to the premises only with the approval of the Employer which will not be unreasonably withheld.

- 8.07 The Union may hold meetings on Employer premises providing permission has been first obtained from the Employer.
- 8.08 Where an employee attends a committee meeting outside of regularly scheduled hours they will be paid for all hours spent in attendance at meetings at their regular straight time hourly rate.
- 8.09 Notices to OPSEU/SEFPO Staff Representatives may be delivered to their Queen's email address, however, under no circumstances can notices be received or forwarded using the OSCAR system.

8.10 Union Leave

- a) Leave of absence without pay may be granted to employees who are elected or appointed to represent the Union at meetings or conventions. Two (2) employees in the bargaining unit will be considered for a leave of absence to attend such meetings or conventions, subject to operational requirements and specifically provided that no overtime payment is incurred by the employer to replace the employees. The Employer agrees to maintain the regular pay of the employee during such leave, and to invoice the Union for reimbursement of such pay. The request for such leaves shall be submitted in writing at least two (2) weeks in advance of the requested leave, except in cases of emergency, which will be assessed on a case by case basis.
- b) An employee who is appointed to an executive position of the Provincial Union shall be granted, upon request, a leave of absence without pay, and with seniority accumulated during the period of such leave. This recognizes that there shall be no accumulation of service during this one year leave of absence. The Employer will continue to

pay the employee's wages and maintain their benefits provided the Union reimburses the Employer for the full cost of wages and benefits.

c) Subject to the operational requirements, an employee shall be granted a Leave of Absence for the purpose of working on a temporary basis for the Union. The Employer will continue to maintain the regular pay and benefits of the employee on the condition that the wages and benefits will be reimbursed by the Union to the Employer.

ARTICLE 9 - DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE

- 9.01 Subject to Article 9.02, the employer agrees that it will not suspend, discharge, or otherwise discipline an employee without just cause.
- 9.02 An employee will be entitled to be accompanied by their Steward at any disciplinary meeting, including at a meeting that may result in discipline related to poor performance, unless the employee waives their right to have a Union representative present. The University will inform the employee of the right to be accompanied by their Steward prior to the start of any such meeting. If the employee refuses Union representation, they will sign a waiver that indicates their decision to decline representation.
- 9.03 When the University is considering disciplining an employee, the University will meet with the employee and a Union representative unless the employee waives their right to have a union representative present. The University will advise the employee of the reason(s) for the meeting and will provide the employee with an opportunity to respond. Within ten (10) working days of this meeting the University will advise the employee of its disciplinary decision. If the University requires additional time to complete its investigation prior to making its disciplinary decision, the Union will not unreasonably withhold agreement to extend the ten (10) day period referenced above.

- 9.04 Any discipline that may be imposed on an employee will subsequently be confirmed in writing to the employee and a copy will be sent to the Union. Should the employee wish to respond in writing to the discipline, their reply will also become part of their personnel file.
- 9.05 An employee who has been suspended or discharged will be given the reason(s) therefor immediately and, within three (3) working days, such reason(s) will be confirmed in writing to the employee and the Union.
- 9.06 When making a disciplinary decision, the University will not consider any prior discipline after the employee has worked for eighteen (18) months during which there has not been subsequent discipline imposed. At the written request of an employee, all such prior disciplinary records will be removed from their personnel file.

ARTICLE 10 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

- 10.01 It is the mutual desire of the Parties that any complaint arising between an employee and the University with respect to the administration, application, interpretation, or alleged violation of the Agreement be addressed as efficiently as possible.
- 10.02 In the event of a disagreement between the University and an employee as to the administration, application, interpretation, or alleged violation of the provisions of this Agreement the following process will be followed:

10.03 Informal Resolution Stage

It is agreed by the Parties that an employee may not file a grievance until they, either directly or through the Union, have first given their immediate supervisor an opportunity to address the issue or complaint.

10.04 a) This Informal Resolution Stage must be initiated within fifteen (15) working days after the employee became aware, or ought reasonably to have become aware, of the circumstances giving rise to the issue or complaint.

- b) Alternatively, the Union may raise the issue on behalf of the employee, in which case the Union will raise the issue or complaint directly with an Employee/Labour Relations Advisor within fifteen (15) working days after the employee became aware, or ought reasonably to have become aware, of the circumstances giving rise to the issue or complaint.
- 10.05 If the issue or complaint is not resolved within five (5) working days after it has been brought to the attention of the employee's immediate supervisor or Employee/Labour Relations Advisor, as applicable, or within any longer period that may have been agreed to by the Parties, then the following steps of the grievance procedure may be invoked:

10.06 <u>Step 1</u>

The aggrieved employee (the "grievor"), or a Union representative on the grievor's behalf, may submit a written grievance to the manager of the department or their equivalent in the organizational unit involved. The grievance should outline the facts giving rise to the grievance, the Article(s) of the Agreement alleged to have been violated, and the relief sought. The grievance must be dated and be signed by the grievor and a Union representative if available. The immediate supervisor, or their designate, will provide the grievor and the Union with a written response within ten (10) working days after the grievance was submitted.

10.07 Step 2

A grievance that is not resolved at Step 1 may, at the grievor's request, be submitted to the Director, Employee/Labour Relations, or their specified designate within ten (10) working days after the expiry of the response time under Step 1. Upon receipt of the grievance, the Director, Employee/Labour Relations, or their designate, will meet with the Union representative who signed the grievance, or their specified designate, and the grievor within ten (10) working days after the date on which the Director received the grievance. At the Union's discretion, an OPSEU/SEFPO staff representative may also attend the Step 2 grievance meeting. The Director will provide the Union and the grievor with a written response within ten (10) working days after the Step 2 Grievance meeting.

- 10.08 A grievance alleging unjust suspension or discharge will commence at Step2.
- 10.09 A Policy grievance arising directly between the Employer and the Union shall be originated under Step 2. However, it is understood that the provisions of this Paragraph shall not be used to bypass the regular grievance procedure to institute a grievance directly affecting an employee(s), which such employee(s) could themselves have instituted. A Policy grievance filed by the Employer or the Union must be submitted within fifteen (15) working days after the occurrence of the facts giving rise to the grievance or within fifteen (15) working days after the date on which the Employer or the Union, as applicable, ought reasonably to have been aware of the occurrence of the facts giving rise to the grievance.
- 10.10 An Employer grievance will be submitted to the Union's Kingston Regional Office and will commence at Step 2. A decision by the Union will be delivered in writing within ten (10) working days of the meeting provided for in Step 2.
- 10.11 A group complaint arises when two (2) or more employees wish to raise a matter arising from substantially the same alleged violation of this Agreement. In the case of a group complaint, the Informal Resolution Stage shall be undertaken by the Union in accordance with Paragraph 10.04(b). Failing resolution of the matter after the Informal Resolution Stage, a group grievance may be submitted at Step 1. All grievors must sign the grievance if they are available but a limit of three (3) grievors may be present at each Step of the grievance process. Any resolution under the Grievance Process will apply to all grievors.
- 10.12 Failing satisfactory resolution of any grievance at Step 2, the grievance may be referred to arbitration pursuant to Article 11, "Arbitration".

- 10.13 Should the grievor fail to file the grievance at the next stage within the specified time limits contained herein, it shall result in the grievance being abandoned.
- 10.14 The time limits referred to in this Article may be extended by mutual written agreement of the Parties.
- 10.15 All issues related to the University Pension Plan shall not constitute a "difference" between the parties for the purposes of the Ontario *Labour Relations Act* or any collective agreement between the parties in effect and after the University Pension Plan Accrual Date and must be addressed under the provisions of the University Pension Plan and whatever mechanism the Sponsors may implement for issues or disputes related to the University Pension Plan and that it is the intention of the Parties that an arbitrator appointed under the collective agreement shall have no jurisdiction to hear any grievance referred to arbitration or grant any remedy in any way related to the University Pension Plan.

ARTICLE 11 – ARBITRATION

- 11.01 Where a difference arises between the Parties relating to the administration, application, interpretation or alleged violation of this Agreement, including any question as to whether a matter is arbitrable, the grieving Party may, within twenty (20) working days after the Step 2 written response is received or due, provide written notification to the other Party of its intention to proceed to arbitration.
- 11.02 An arbitration hearing will proceed before a single arbitrator.
- 11.03 In its written referral pursuant to Article 11.01, the referring Party will list three (3) proposed arbitrators. If the responding Party does not agree to any of the 3 proposed arbitrators, it will propose three (3) alternate arbitrators within ten (10) working days after receiving the arbitration referral.
- 11.04 If the Parties cannot agree on an arbitrator within thirty (30) calendar days

after the responding Party received the initial arbitration referral, then either Party may request that the Minister of Labour appoint a sole Arbitrator pursuant to the provisions of section 48 of the *Labour Relations Act*, or, the Parties may continue to attempt to reach agreement on an arbitrator.

- 11.05 The fees and expenses of the Arbitrator will be shared equally by the Union and the University. Subject to 11.06, each Party shall bear the fees and expenses of its witnesses and of the preparation and presentation of its own case.
- 11.06 The Union must, with as much advance notice as possible, submit a leave request to the Director, Employee/Labour Relations for any bargaining unit employee whom the Union wishes to attend an arbitration hearing. The grievor and Chief Steward or designate will be paid at their regular hourly rate for time lost by them as a result of attending an arbitration hearing.
- 11.07 The Arbitrator has the power and authority provided for in the *Labour Relations Act* and to hear and determine the grievance.
- 11.08 The Arbitrator's decision shall be final and binding upon the Parties and upon any employee affected by it, subject to the limitation that the Arbitrator shall have no authority to make any decision that is inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement or to add to, subtract from, change, alter, modify or amend any of the provision(s) of this Agreement.
- 11.09 The Arbitrator shall deal solely with the matter in dispute within the confines of this Agreement and any legislation over which the Arbitrator has the jurisdiction to interpret and apply pursuant to the *Labour Relations Act*.
- 11.10 Should the Parties disagree as to the meaning of the Arbitrator's decision, either Party may apply to the Arbitrator to clarify the decision. This provision shall not be interpreted such as to prevent either Party from seeking judicial review of an arbitrator's decision.
- 11.11 The time limits referred to in this Article 11 may be extended by written mutual agreement of the Parties.

11.12 Nothing in this Article shall prevent the Union or the University from exercising its right to use Section 49 of the *Labour Relations Act*.

ARTICLE 12- HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME

12.01 It is the University's management right to determine hours of work as the University deems appropriate and the provisions of this Article are intended only to provide a basis for calculating time worked, and nothing in this Article shall be construed as providing any guarantee(s) as to the hours of work per day or per week or when employees commence or end regular hours of work.

> Subject to the above, the Employer recognizes that for Regular Full-time employees the normal work week is thirty-five (35) hours consisting of seven (7) hour shifts per day, Monday through Friday.

12.02 Breaks

Each employee is entitled to a one (1) hour lunch break without pay, approximately mid-way through a workday. Variations to an employee's standard lunch break may be addressed under Article 12.04 as part of an arrangement for flexible working hours. Each employee is also entitled to a paid fifteen (15) minute break at an appropriate time during the 1st and 2nd half of the workday. Breaks are to be taken at a convenient point in the flow of duties and employees are to ensure that breaks do not exceed the allotted time period. Paid break time cannot be accumulated and taken as time off.

12.03 Scheduling

Except where an employee's work schedule is subject to Article 12.04 below, if an employee's regular hours of work per day or hours of work per week are to be changed on a temporary basis the employer will endeavor to provide five (5) workdays' notice. If a new schedule is to be introduced on an ongoing basis the employee shall be provided with ten (10) workdays' notice. For clarity, a change on a 'temporary basis' involves a change to an employee's regular hours per day or per week in which there is an

anticipated end- date to the change; a change on an 'ongoing basis' involves a change to an employee's regular hours per day or per week in which there is no anticipated end- date to the change.

Flexible Hours of Work

An Employee may make a request to their supervisor for flexibility regarding individual hours of work. For example, such request may include flexible hours, a compressed lunch hour, or a compressed work week. It is understood that the design, approval and renewal, if any, of any requested flexible working arrangement is subject to management's assessment as to whether it will adversely impact operational efficiency or service effectiveness. It is understood that such arrangements may not be operationally suitable in some work units and/or for certain positions. It is further understood that such arrangements will not trigger overtime.

12.04 <u>Call-Back</u>

When an employee who has completed their normal work day and has left the University premises is required by the employer to return to work, they shall be entitled to Call-Back pay. An employee entitled to Call-Back pay will be paid at 1.5 times their regular hourly rate for actual hours worked or will be paid for four (4) hours at their regular rate, whichever is greater.

Administrative Time

12.05 Effective after ratification of the 2022 renewal Collective Agreement, RPNs can schedule up to one (1) hour administration time per workday, as needed, so as to minimally impact clinic operation. For further clarity, administration time includes but is not limited to, reviewing of inboxes, updating preventions and documenting, and completing field notes.

12.06 Additional Hours of Work and Overtime

The Parties recognize that the University's operations may require part-time employees to perform additional hours of work and/or for full-time employees to work overtime. To the extent feasible, additional hours of work and/or overtime will be on a voluntary basis. Should sufficient employees not be available to meet these requirements, then the employer can assign additional hours of work and/or overtime. In situations concerning assignment of shifts, the process to be followed is to assign the shift to the least senior employee pursuant to the process articulated in Article 22.08.

- 12.07 It is understood that overtime pay will not apply unless or until the time worked is at least fifteen (15) minutes more than the employee's regular hours of work in a day.
- 12.08 Compensation for authorized overtime shall be in the form of either:
 - a) time in lieu accumulated at the rate of 1.5 hours of lieu time for each hour of overtime worked. The University will maintain an overtime bank for each employee which, at any given time, may not exceed 35 hours. Time in lieu will be taken at times mutually agreed to by the employee and the employer; or
 - b) payment for each hour of overtime worked at the rate of 1.5 times the employee's regular hourly rate as defined in Appendix A.
- 12.09 All overtime must be authorized in advance by the appropriate Department Head or supervisor.
- 12.10 Work performed on a 6th or 7th consecutive day in a work week where the employee has already worked their full regularly scheduled hours in that work week, will be compensated at the overtime rate in accordance with Article 12.09 above.
- 12.11 Casual and unauthorized time worked at staff members' discretion is not eligible for overtime compensation. This includes time worked during lunch hours, coffee breaks or personal choice of early arrivals or late departures. Casual overtime specifically does not include additional time spent on patient care due to patient backlog during clinic hours.

For employees working less than full-time, including those on reduced periods of responsibility appointments, overtime compensation will only apply when the hours worked actually exceed thirty (35) hours in a work week. The employee will be paid at their regular hourly rate up to and including the 35th hour in a week and will only be compensated at the overtime rate for work beyond those hours.

- 12.12 Upon termination, promotion or a change of departments, an employee will be paid for outstanding accumulated lieu time.
- 12.13 Employees whose hours of work regularly begin at 4:00 p.m. or who work a shift where at least 50% of the hours worked that day are after 4:00 p.m. shall receive a shift premium of \$0.45 per hour for those hours worked after 4:00 p.m.

12.14 Weekend Premium

Employees required to work on weekends shall receive a premium of \$0.50 per hour for all scheduled hours worked.

12.15 There shall be no duplicating or pyramiding of overtime or premium payments unless provided herein.

ARTICLE 13 – JOB POSTINGS

- 13.01 Subject to Article 13.04, when the University decides to fill a vacancy in the bargaining unit it will be filled by a process of selection. The Employer agrees that this process will include the posting of notices of job vacancies on the Human Resources website for five (5) working days. It is the University that determines if a vacancy exists and, if so, whether it will be filled.
- 13.02 Each posting must identify: the date of the posting, the job posting number, the date by which applications must be received, the job title, the appointment type (*i.e.* "continuing", "term" or "continuing term"), the FTE of the position, the usual hours of work, the Department, salary grade, a description of the work, and the qualifications required.
- 13.03 It is the responsibility of each applicant to set out in their application the

skills, qualifications, abilities, and relevant experience, relative to the criteria stated in the job posting.

13.04 Posting Not Required

- a) The Employer is not required to post a position if the successful candidate rescinds their acceptance of the employment offer at any time within two (2) weeks prior to the scheduled start date. Should the successful candidate withdraw their acceptance within two (2) weeks prior to the scheduled start date, the University will consider the applicants of the original posting.
- b) The University may, without posting, fill temporary vacancies of less than six (6) months but the Employer will make every reasonable attempt to fill such positions from within the bargaining unit.
- c) The Employer is not required to post a position if a posted position is filled but becomes vacant again within the tree (3) months of the successful applicant being placed. The University may reconsider the applicants to the original posting.
- d) If a successful applicant accepts a position, which then creates a second vacancy in the bargaining unit, that vacancy, and any subsequent vacancy, will be subject to the terms of Article 13.

13.05 Application and Selection Process

- a) The Human Resources Department will receive all applications for job postings prior to forwarding them to the hiring Department. Qualified bargaining unit applicants will be interviewed first and if there are no suitable candidates, they shall interview nonbargaining unit applicants. If there are no qualified applicants in the non- bargaining pool, the employer reserves the right to return to the internal applicants.
- b) The University will select the qualified candidate, if any, who is demonstrably the most qualified candidate for the position,

taking into account factors such as applicants' skills, qualifications, ability, and relevant experience. The University agrees that the onus lies with the Employer to demonstrate that the successful candidate was the most qualified. When making a selection, if the Employer determines that the skills, qualifications, ability, and relevant experience of two (2) or more candidates are equal, the candidate with the most seniority will be selected.

13.06 When requested to do so, the University will meet with an employee who was granted an interview but who was not selected as the successful candidate to discuss how the employee might prepare for future job postings.

13.07 Trial Period (current employees)

The successful applicant shall be placed in the position for a trial period of three (3) months from the time that the new duties are assumed. A trial period may be extended for an additional three (3) months by mutual agreement of the Employer and Union. In the event the successful applicant is unsatisfactory in the position during the aforementioned trial period, or if the employee wishes to revert, they shall be returned to their former position and former salary rate. Any other employee promoted or transferred because of the initial trial period shall also be returned to their former their former or equivalent position without loss of seniority and at their former salary rate.

13.08 An applicant may be confirmed in a period shorter than the applicable trial period contained herein.

<u> ARTICLE 14 – PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEES.</u>

14.01 The newly hired employee will be on probation for a period of ninety (90) working days or 630 hours for full-time employees or 630 hours for part-time employees.

- 14.02 Any casual employee who moves to a part-time or full-time appointment will be subject to the probationary period of ninety (90) working days or 630 hours. However, any hours worked in the previous six (6) months shall be counted toward their probationary period to a maximum of 315 hours.
- 14.03 At the time of their appointment, the employee will be advised of the job requirements and the employer's expectations of successful job performance that they must meet by the end of the probationary period.

14.04 **Progress Review**

It is understood and accepted that a newly hired employee will receive feedback on their work performance on a regular basis. This will include but is not limited to a formal review which will be conducted within twentyfive (25) days for full-time employees or 175 hours worked for part-time employees.

- 14.05 An employee who transfers from part-time to full-time status, doing the same work, shall not be required to serve a probationary period where such employee has previously completed one since their date of last hire. Where no such probationary period has been completed, the number of hours worked during the ninety (90) working days immediately preceding the transfer shall be credited towards the probationary period.
- 14.06 An employee who transfers from full-time status to part-time status shall not be required to serve a probationary period where such employee has previously completed one since their last date of hire. Where no such probationary period has been completed, the number of hours worked during the ninety (90) working days immediately preceding the transfer shall be credited towards the probationary period.

14.07 Extension of Probationary Period

If in the Employer's opinion the employee's performance and progress do not meet the job requirements, but may by the end of an extended probationary period, or if there has been insufficient opportunity to assess the employee's performance, the employee's probation may be extended by mutual agreement between the Employer and the Union.

14.08 At the end of the probationary period, if performance is deemed to be satisfactory the appointment will be confirmed in writing.

14.09 Termination of Employment

- a) The employment of probationary employees may be terminated at any time during the probationary period, without recourse to the grievance and arbitration procedure regarding their termination, unless:
 - (i) the decision to terminate is made in bad faith; or
 - (ii) the decision to terminate is contrary to Article 4; or
 - (iii) the procedures established in Articles 14.04 or 14.07 have not been followed.
- A grievance alleging violation of these grounds will commence at Step 2.
- c) The Union shall be notified in advance of any such termination and may choose to attend a meeting set for this purpose.

ARTICLE 15 – SENIORITY

- 15.01 Seniority for full-time employees shall be calculated based on the last date of hire with the University. For the purposes of calculating seniority, successive appointments will be considered continuous if the break between periods of employment is not greater than thirteen (13) weeks.
- 15.02 Seniority for part-time employees shall be calculated based on one (1) year being equivalent to 1,500 hours. An employee cannot predate their date of hire.
- 15.03 In the event that two (2) or more bargaining unit employees have the same date of hire their seniority ranking will be determined in accordance with the following process: the highest last three (3) digits of an employee's social

insurance number will be the most senior employee. Each subsequent employee will fall in seniority according to declining social insurance digits. Upon request, either party can seek to change the seniority ranking process with not less than sixty (60) days' written notice.

- 15.04 Seniority will only be recognized following an employee's successful completion of the probationary period.
- 15.05 Except as otherwise expressly stated, seniority will be maintained and will not be affected by an employee's absence from work due to vacation, paid holidays, approved sick leave, or other approved leaves provided for in this Agreement.
- 15.06 An employee's full seniority and service shall be retained by the employee in the event that the employee is transferred from full-time to part-time. An employee whose status is changed from full-time to part-time shall receive credit for their full seniority on the basis of 1,500 hours paid for each year of full-time seniority. An employee whose status is changed from part-time to full-time shall receive credit for their full seniority on the basis of one (1) year of seniority for each 1,500 hours paid. Any time worked in excess of an equivalent shall be pro-rated at the time of transfer.

15.07 Seniority Lists

The University will post seniority lists at both Family Health Team locations and on the Queen's Family Health Team shared file system in April and October of each year. The seniority list will include the name of each employee in the bargaining unit who has completed their probationary period. Seniority for full-time employees shall be posted as a date and for part-time employees shall be posted in total hours worked. A copy of the seniority list will be provided to the Union in electronic format.

15.08 Employees shall have the right to challenge the accuracy of their seniority for a period of thirty (30) calendar days from the date the seniority list is

posted on the Queen's Family Health Team shared file system. If the employee's seniority is determined to be inaccurate, it will be corrected. Such correction will not be retroactive. After any such correction, the seniority list shall be deemed final for all purposes except in the case of clerical errors.

15.09 **Deemed Termination**

An employee shall be deemed terminated, shall lose all seniority, and their name shall be removed from the seniority list if the employee:

- a) quits their job or retires;
- b) is discharged for cause and is not reinstated;
- c) is absent from work for five (5) consecutive working days without authorization from their supervisor, unless the failure to contact the supervisor to obtain authorization is due to extraordinary circumstances beyond the employee's control that prevent them from doing so;
- fails to return to work at the end of an authorized leave of absence without the consent of their supervisor, unless the failure to contact the supervisor to obtain consent is due to extraordinary circumstances beyond the employee's control that prevent them from doing so;
- e) utilizes a leave of absence for purposes other than that/those for which the leave of absence was granted;
- f) has a term appointment that ends on the original end date stated in the employee's letter of offer and the employee does not obtain another position in the bargaining unit within 6 months of that end date; or
- g) receives severance pay.

Any subsequent employment with the University thereafter shall be as a new, probationary employee.

<u>ARTICLE 16 – CONVERSION OF TERM APPOINTMENTS TO</u> <u>CONTINUING APPOINTMENTS</u>

- 16.01 A term appointment shall be deemed to be a permanent (continuing) position if the employee's length of consecutive term appointments to the same position exceeds thirty-six (36) months.
- 16.02 If an employee's term appointment to a position expires but the employee is appointed to the same position within thirteen (13) weeks following the expiry, the subsequent appointment shall be considered to be consecutive with the expired appointment for purposes of determining the employee's total length of consecutive appointments to the same position. However, it is understood that the intervening period between two (2) such appointments shall **not** be included in the calculation of the employee's length of consecutive appointments to the same position.
- 16.03 An employee whose appointment status is changed because of the operation of this Paragraph will receive a letter from Human Resources confirming their change of status within thirty (30) days of the change.

ARTICLE 17 – LAYOFF AND RECALL

- 17.01 Operational reasons that may include budgetary constraints, discontinuance of funding, organizational restructuring, reorganization of duties and responsibilities, reduction of funding, or technological change may make it necessary for the Family Health Team to reduce the complement of employees in the bargaining unit by:
 - a) declaring a short term layoff,
 - b) by eliminating one (1) or more bargaining unit positions from the department, or
 - c) by reducing the hours of one (1) or more bargaining unit positions in the department.
 - No person employed by the University shall perform duties normally

assigned to bargaining unit employees if doing so will result in the layoff, or in a reduction of the regular work hours, of any bargaining unit employee.

- 17.02 In the event of a permanent layoff the University shall:
 - a) provide the Union with notice of the proposed layoff fourteen (14) days in advance of notice to the employee(s); and
 - b) provide to the affected employee(s), no less than three (3) months' written notice of layoff, or pay in lieu thereof.
- 17.03 Within two (2) weeks of notifying the Local Union President or designee about the pending layoff, the University will meet with the Union to inform the Union of its intention and the reason(s) for the layoff. At this meeting, the University and the Union may explore and agree to alternative arrangements that meet the operational needs of the Queen's Family Health Team and eliminate the need for, or reduce the impact of, the layoff.
- 17.04 An employee will normally be expected to work through the notice period, but the University may choose not to require the employee to attend at work during all or part of the notice period in which case the employee will be so advised in writing and such decision will not affect the employee's entitlement(s) pursuant to Article 17.
- 17.05 If a position(s) that is subject to a layoff is one of a number of positions in the Queen's Family Health Team for which the required qualifications and the duties are substantially similar, the employee(s) will be laid off in reverse order of seniority. Subject to the foregoing, probationary employees shall be laid off first.
- 17.06 Full-time and part-time employees shall not be laid off where there exists a temporary employee in the same classification.
- 17.07 The notice period shall begin on the date that written notice of layoff is received by the employee or the date on which written notice of layoff is delivered by registered mail to the employee's address on file with Human

Resources, whichever is earlier.

- a) if an employee is on pregnancy or parental leave, the notice period will begin on the date the employee is scheduled to return to work from such leave;
- b) if an employee is on WSIB or LTD leave, the notice period will begin on the date the employee is determined to be fit to return to work from such leave;
- c) if an employee is on short term sick leave, the notice period will begin on the date the employee is deemed fit to return to work from sick leave.
- 17.08 Prior to implementing a short-term layoff (less than three (3) months), employees will first be offered, in order of seniority, the opportunity to take vacation day(s), utilize any compensating/lieu time credits or to take unpaid leaves in order to minimize the impact of a short-term layoff.
- 17.09 Employees shall have the following entitlements in the event of a layoff;
 - a) An employee who has been notified of a layoff may:
 - (i) Accept the layoff; or
 - (ii) Opt to retire if eligible under the terms of the University Pension Plan; or
 - (iii) elect to fill a vacant position, provided they are qualified to perform the available work; or
 - (iv) displace an employee with lesser seniority whose work they are qualified to perform.
 - b) In all cases of layoff:
 - (i) Any agreement between the Employer and the Union concerning the method of implementation of a layoff shall take precedence over the terms of this article. The unavailability of a representative of the Union shall not delay any meeting regarding layoffs or staff reductions.
 - (ii) No reduction in the hours of work shall take place to prevent or reduce the impact of a layoff without the consent of the Union.

- (iv) Full-time and Part-time layoff and recall rights shall not operate so as to create an inequity for more senior employees. Thus if a Part-time employee has greater seniority than a Full-time employee, the Part-time employee may displace the more junior full time employee.
- (v) No new employees shall be hired until all those employees who retain the right to be recalled have been given an opportunity to return to work.
- (vi) Should a vacant position exist, it shall be filled by an employee on layoff provided that the laid off employee has the qualifications and relevant experience to fill the vacancy. If no laid off employee has the qualifications and relevant experience, the vacant position shall be subject to the posting process as articulated in Article 13 – Job Postings.

17.10 Recall from Layoff

Regular full-time and regular part-time employees shall be recalled in the order of seniority provided that an employee recalled is qualified to perform the available work.

- 17.11 During the notice period an employee will remain enrolled in all premium based benefit plan(s) in which they were enrolled on the date of notice of layoff.
- 17.12 An employee will receive severance pay in accordance with Appendix G and will cease employment with the Employer if the employee's notice period expires and they have not been recalled in accordance with Article 17.

17.13 Term Appointments

a) The Layoff provisions of the Agreement do not apply to a term appointment that continues to its stated end date.

b) If a term appointment is terminated prior to the original stated end date the employee will be entitled to notice of termination, pay in lieu of notice or a combination thereof, in accordance with the *Employment Standards Act, 2000.* If the employee does not obtain alternate employment with the University during the notice period, they shall be entitled to receive severance pay in accordance with the *Employment Standards Act, 2000.*

ARTICLE 18 – LEAVES OF ABSENCE

18.01 A leave of absence will not operate to extend or otherwise alter the end date of a Term Appointment.

18.02 Bereavement

- In the event of a death in an employee's immediate family or in the a) event of the death of a close relative, leave without loss of pay may be granted for a period of up to five (5) working days within the seven (7) consecutive calendar days immediately following the death. This includes time for travel, attending the funeral and involvement in funeral arrangements and affairs. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the case of the death of an employee's parent including a current step parent, spouse, partner, child including a child of the employee's current spouse, a sibling including a current step sister or current step brother, current mother-in-law, current father-in-law, grandparent or grandchild, the employee shall be granted a leave of absence without loss of pay for a period of five (5) working days within the seven (7) consecutive calendar days immediately following the death.
- b) Upon request at the time of the bereavement, an employee may elect to set aside one (1) day of available bereavement leave to be used within one (1) year of the death, to attend a memorial service, interment, or the like.

18.03 Where an employee's scheduled vacation is interrupted by a death that gives rise to an entitlement to Bereavement Leave under Article 18.02 (a), and if, upon request, the employee can provide verification of the death, the employee shall be entitled to substitute Bereavement Leave days for vacation days. Any resulting unused vacation would then be rescheduled at a mutually convenient later date.

18.04 Compassionate Leave

Important or unusual circumstances may make it necessary for an employee to be absent from work for short periods of time. A sudden serious illness in the employee's household, a medical or dental appointment or other such infrequent emergency normally will not result in loss of salary. Each situation will be decided by the Department Head/designate having regard for the requirements of Article 6.02 and recognizing that such leave is an earned privilege but not an established right.

18.05 Medical Appointment

Leave with pay will be granted up to a maximum of fourteen (14) hours in any calendar year for certain designated causes such as medical, dental, or health related appointments. Said leave must be requested at least two (2) business days prior to the appointment and can be taken in ½ hour increments.

18.06 <u>Elections</u>

An employee who is a candidate in a provincial or federal election will, on request to their Department Head/designate, be granted leave of absence without pay during the campaign period and, if elected, during one (1) term in office.

- 18.07 The recommended length of unpaid leaves of absence for campaign purposes are as follows:
 - a) for election to either the Parliament of Canada, or the Provincial Legislature, leave for the equivalent of up to thirty (30) days;

- b) for election to Municipal, Regional or County Office, leave for the equivalent of up to ten (10) days, depending on the nature of the office being sought.
- 18.08 Election to a second term or appointment to a cabinet post requires that the employee resign from their position with the University.
- 18.09 If the employee is elected to a position that does not require time away from work, Article 18.07 shall not apply.
- 18.10 While there is no guarantee that an employee returning from this leave will be assigned to their former position, they will be returned to a similar or comparable position within their department, if available. If no such similar or comparable position exists within their department, they will receive notice of layoff upon their return.
- 18.11 During the period of time that the employee is on leave as a result of being elected, vacation accrual will end effective the last day worked. Vacation accrual for the year in which the employee returns to work will be pro-rated to reflect the actual time worked during the accrual period in that year.

18.12FAMILY LEAVE

Pregnancy Leave – General

- a) Pregnancy leave will be granted in accordance with the provisions of the *Employment Standards Act*, except as amended in this Agreement.
- b) At least one (1) month in advance of the expected delivery, the employee should make written application to the department head, or designate, for pregnancy leave including the date the leave will commence and the expected date of return to work but in no event shall such written application be provided less than two (2) weeks prior to the commencement of the leave. In cases where the exact date of the birth of the child is unknown, the employee must keep their Department Head/designate advised of the expected date of birth.

- c) The employee must inform the Employer of any changes to the originally stated return to work date at least one (1) month prior to the effective date of the change, or one (1) month in advance of the original return to work date, whichever is earlier.
- d) Upon return to work the employee is entitled to return to their previous position and salary. If that position no longer exists, the layoff provisions will apply.
- e) Seniority will be maintained, and length of service and vacation entitlement continue to accrue, while the employee is on a Pregnancy Leave. Upon return to work, the employee will be entitled to the same amount of vacation days as if they had worked. With the permission of the Department Head, this time may be added on to the end of their leave, which may include additional approved leave such as Parental Leave or a Leave of Absence Without Pay, taken after the Pregnancy Leave.
- f) During the period of Pregnancy Leave, the University will continue the employee on the benefits in which they are enrolled immediately prior to the commencement of their leave if they so choose. The employee is required to pay their share of the costs of the benefit plans in which they are enrolled during the full term of the leave.
- g) Unusual pregnancy or birth situations may occur where the normal application of this Article may not be appropriate. Such special cases should be reviewed with Human Resources.

18.13 Supported Pregnancy Leave

- a) "Supported Pregnancy Leave" is a Pregnancy Leave that is financially supported, with top-up payments as outlined in Article 18.13 c) below, for up to twenty (20) weeks.
- b) To qualify for Supported Pregnancy Leave, an employee must have been employed continuously for one (1) year or more and

hold a current appointment of a year's duration or longer.

- Eligible employees will receive a top-up payment specified below;
- (ii) The top-up payment will be made on the understanding that the employee is expected to return to work and remain an employee of the University for six (6) months following their return from a Supported Pregnancy Leave (including additional approved leave, such as Parental Leave or a Leave of Absence Without Pay, taken after Pregnancy Leave). Should an employee quit and therefore not satisfy the six (6) month condition, they shall be indebted to the University for the sum of the monies paid to them during their Supported Pregnancy Leave and will be required to repay these monies to the University.
- (iii) Unusual circumstances may occur where the normal application of Sub-Paragraph (ii) above may not be appropriate. Such special cases should be reviewed with Human Resources.
- (iv) Sub-paragraph (ii) does not apply to an employee who holds a Term Appointment that expires during their leave.
- c) Supported Pregnancy Leave top-up allowance is as follows:
 - (i) Week 1:

A payment equivalent to 100% of the employee's normal basic earnings for the first week of the pregnancy leave;

(ii) Weeks 2 to 17:

For the next sixteen (16) weeks of the pregnancy leave, the employee will receive from the University, a top-up payment equal to the difference between 100% of the employee's normal basic earnings and the amount of Employment Insurance maternity benefit the employee receives; and

(iii) Weeks 18 to 20:A payment equivalent to 100% of the employee's normal

basic earnings for the remaining three (3) weeks of the Supported Pregnancy Leave.

- d) All payments by the University for Supported Pregnancy Leave shall only be payable when the employee is receiving Employment Insurance ("E.I.") benefits and has provided proof of same to the University. Such proof will not be made available by E.I. until after the leave has commenced and hence University payments will be retroactive.
- e) Any period of leave beyond these twenty (20) weeks is unsupported and falls under the provisions of Parental Leave or Leave of Absence Without Pay.
- f) Supported Pregnancy Leave may be initiated by the employee at any time within twelve (12) weeks of the expected delivery date.
- g) The employee's participation in the *Revised Pension Plan of Queen's University* will continue with both employee and employer contributions as well as accrual of pensionable service during the period of Supported Pregnancy Leave.

18.14 Unsupported Pregnancy Leave

- An employee who is not eligible for Supported Pregnancy Leave may nevertheless qualify for Unsupported Pregnancy Leave (*i.e.* leave without pay). In accordance with the *Employment Standards Act*, an employee who has accrued at least thirteen (13) weeks of continuous service preceding their expected date of delivery is entitled to Unsupported Pregnancy Leave of up to seventeen (17) weeks, provided they submit a written request for such leave to their Supervisor/Manager or designate.
- b) An employee may begin their Unsupported Pregnancy Leave up to seventeen (17) weeks before the expected date of delivery.
- c) Unless the employee qualifies for Supported Pregnancy Leave,

any period of leave granted beyond these seventeen (17) weeks is also unsupported and will fall under the provisions for Parental Leave or Leave of Absence Without Pay.

 An employee who does not meet the eligibility requirements for Unsupported Pregnancy Leave shall be granted, upon written request, a Leave of Absence Without Pay.

18.15 PARENTAL LEAVE – GENERAL

Definitions:

Standard Parental Leave: a leave of absence from work of up to 35 weeks if the employee took Pregnancy Leave or up to 37 weeks if the employee did not take Pregnancy Leave.

Extended Parental Leave: a leave of absence from work of up to 61 weeks if the employee took a Pregnancy Leave or up to 63 weeks if the employee did not take Pregnancy Leave.

- a) An employee who becomes a parent of a child is eligible to take a parental leave in accordance with the provisions of the *Employment Standards Act*, except as amended by this Agreement.
- b) The employee must inform the Employer of any changes to the originally stated return to work date at least one (1) month prior to the effective date of the change, or one (1) month in advance of the original return to work date, whichever is earlier.
- c) Parental Leave must begin within seventy-eight (78) weeks of the birth of the baby or within seventy-eight (78) weeks of when the child first came into the custody or care of the parent.
- d) An employee who has taken a Pregnancy Leave must commence their Parental Leave when their Pregnancy Leave ends. The combined total of Pregnancy Leave and Parental leave for an employee shall not exceed eighty-one (81) weeks.

- f) Seniority will be maintained, and length of service and vacation entitlement continue to accrue, while the employee is on a Parental Leave. Upon return to work the employee will be entitled to the same amount of vacation days as if they had worked. With the permission of the Department Head, this time may be added on to the end of their leave, which may include additional leave, such as a Leave of Absence Without Pay, taken after the Parental Leave.
- g) During the period of Parental Leave the University will continue the employee on the benefits in which they are enrolled immediately prior to the commencement of their leave if they so choose. The employee is required to pay their share of the costs of the benefit plans in which they are enrolled during the full term of the leave.
- h) If both parents are employees, both parents can take Parental Leave, and can, if they choose, take such Leave at the same time.
- i) For purposes of Parental Leave a "parent" includes a person with whom a child is placed for adoption and a person who is in a relationship of some permanence with the parent of the child and who intends to treat the child as their own.
- j) An employee shall provide their Department Head, or designate, with as much advance notice as possible of a Request for Parental leave, but in no event shall such written notice be provided less than four (4) weeks prior to the commencement of the leave. In cases where the Parental Leave is an extension of the employee's Pregnancy Leave, the notice should take place at the same time as the application for Pregnancy Leave.
- k) In cases where the exact date of the birth/adoption of the child is

unknown, the employee must keep their Department Head/designate advised of the expected date of birth/adoption proceedings.

18.16 Supported Parental Leave

- a) "Supported Parental Leave" is a Parental Leave that is financially supported, with top-up payments as outlined in Article 18.16(e) below, for up to fifteen (15) weeks.
- b) To qualify for Supported Parental Leave an employee must have been employed continuously for one year or more and hold a current appointment of a year's duration or longer.
 - Eligible employees will receive a top-up payment specified below;
 - (ii) The top-up payment will be made on the understanding that the employee is expected to return to work and remain an employee of the University for six (6) months following their return from Supported Parental Leave (including additional approved leave such as Leave of Absence Without Pay, taken after Pregnancy Leave). Should an employee quit and therefore not satisfy the six (6) month condition, they shall be indebted to the University for the sum of the monies paid to them during their Supported Parental Leave and will be required to repay these monies to the University.
 - (iii) Unusual circumstances may occur where the normal application of Sub-Paragraph (ii) above may not be appropriate. Such special cases should be reviewed with Human Resources
 - (iv) Sub-Paragraph (ii) above does not apply to an employee who holds a Term Appointment that expires during their leave.
- c) If an employee is eligible for Supported Pregnancy Leave and Supported Parental Leave the total combined number of weeks for

which they are eligible to receive top-up payments shall not exceed twenty (20) weeks. In all other cases, the maximum period for which an employee can be eligible to receive Supported Parental Leave top-up payments shall not exceed fifteen (15) weeks.

- d) All payments by the University for Supported Parental Leave shall only be payable when the employee is receiving Employment Insurance ("E.I.") benefits and has provided proof of same to the University. Such proof will not be made available by E.I. until after the leave has commenced and hence University payments will be retroactive.
- e) Eligibility for top-up payment for Week 1 will depend on whether the employee is required to serve a waiting period for purposes of entitlement to E.I. benefits. If the employee is required to serve a waiting period of one (1) week (i) a) below will apply. If not, then (i) b) will apply.
 - (i) Weeks 1:
 - A payment equivalent to 100% of the employee's normal basic earnings for the first week of the Parental Leave; or
 - b) the employee will receive from the University a top-up payment equal to the difference between 100% of the employee's normal basic earnings and the amount of Employment Insurance parental benefit calculated for a Standard Parental Leave, regardless of whether the employee elected a Standard Parental Leave or an Extended Parental Leave.
 - (ii) Weeks 2 to 15:

For the next fourteen (14) weeks of the Parental Leave, the employee will receive from the University a top-up payment equal to the difference between 100% of the employee's normal basic earnings and the amount of Employment Insurance parental benefit calculated for a Standard Parental Leave, regardless of whether the employee elected a Standard Parental Leave or an Extended Parental Leave.

f) The employee's participation in the *Revised Pension Plan of Queen's University* will continue with both employee and employer contributions as well as accrual of pensionable service during the period of Supported Parental Leave.

18.17 Unsupported Parental Leave

- a) The amount of Unsupported Parental Leave available to an employee will depend on whether the employee has taken a Supported Parental Leave. Supported Parental Leave constitutes Parental Leave for the purposes of the *Employment Standards Act* entitlement to Parental Leave. Therefore, for an employee who has taken Supported Parental Leave, a further period of Unsupported Parental Leave is available, up to a maximum of forty-eight (48) weeks.
- b) An employee who is not eligible for Supported Parental Leave may nevertheless qualify for Unsupported Parental Leave (*i.e.* leave without pay). An employee who has been employed with Queen's University for at least thirteen (13) continuous weeks before the birth of a child, or before the child came into a parent's custody, care and control for the first time (*e.g.* adoption), is entitled to up to sixty-three (63) weeks of Unsupported Parental Leave (*i.e. leave without pay*).

18.18 Family Medical Leave

An Employee may take a leave of absence, without pay, to provide care or support to a seriously ill family member pursuant to the entitlement provided by and requirements of the *Employment Standards Act*. Such leave shall be arranged with the employee's Department Head or designate.

18.19 General Leave Without Pay

The Employer may approve an employee's request for a leave of absence without pay for up to one (1) year.

- 18.20 The employee's request must be submitted in a reasonable amount of time in advance of the proposed commencement of the requested leave; reasonableness will be a function of the proposed length of the leave, the timing of the leave, and the operational requirements of the Unit.
- 18.21 Requests for unpaid leave must be submitted in writing to the employee's Supervisor and must indicate the date the leave is to commence, the duration of the leave, the return date, and the reason for the request.
- 18.22 The Supervisor will provide the Employer's written response to the employee within ten (10) working days after the request is submitted. In making its decision the Employer will consider, among other factors, the Unit's operational needs and the merits of the request. The Employer may require the employee to utilize accrued vacation and/or lieu time prior to approving a request for an unpaid leave. The administrative level at which approval for a leave request must be decided will depend on the operational impact of the proposed leave.
- 18.23 An employee who takes an unpaid leave of absence for a period exceeding one (1) month will not accrue seniority during the leave. However, the employee's seniority date will be maintained. Annual vacation entitlement in the year the unpaid leave is taken shall be pro-rated based on time actually worked.
- 18.24 The employee must contact the Client Services Unit of Human Resources to discuss arrangements for continued participation in staff benefit plans. The full cost for maintaining available coverage under such plans is entirely the responsibility of the employee.

18.25 Jury or Witness Duty

An employee served with a jury notice or with a Subpoena to Witness shall forthwith notify their immediate supervisor.

- 18.26 An employee will be granted leave for working time actually lost because of jury duty and for time spent in attendance under subpoena in a court proceeding in which the University is a party, provided that the employee provides their immediate supervisor with a written statement from an authorized public official or the counsel of the party on whose behalf they have been subpoenaed, certifying the required date and time of their court attendance.
- 18.27 An employee who has been granted such leave will continue to be paid during their attendance for jury duty or under subpoena, as applicable, provided that they submit written confirmation of the date(s) and time(s) on which they appeared and/or served, authorized public official or the counsel of the party on whose behalf they have been subpoenaed.
- 18.28 The employee will sign over to the University the payment received for jury or witness duty, excluding payment for traveling, meals or other out of pocket expenses. The employee will provide the proof of the amount of pay received to their direct supervisor.
- 18.29 An employee who is called for jury duty or subpoenaed for attendance at court and who is temporarily excused from such duty or attendance must report to work if three (3) or more hours remain to be worked in their workday.
- 18.30 If the University subpoenas the employee as a witness, all time spent in witness preparation with the University's counsel and all time spent in attendance under subpoena will be considered time worked.

18.31 <u>Moving</u>

The Department Head/designate may grant up to one (1) day of leave of absence with pay per calendar year to an employee who is moving from one residence to another in the local area.

18.32 **Reservist Leave**

An employee who is a military reservist is entitled to take a leave of absence

without pay if they are deployed to a Canadian Forces operation outside Canada, or to a domestic operation that is or will be providing assistance in dealing with an emergency or its aftermath (*e.g.* a search and rescue operation or a natural disaster response).

- 18.33 In order to be eligible to commence a reservist leave, the employee must have been employed by the University for at least six (6) consecutive months.
- 18.34 Subject to the University's right to postpone reinstatement in accordance with the *Employment Standards Act*, an employee on a reservist leave is entitled to be reinstated to their previous position and salary. If that position no longer exists, the layoff provisions will apply. The period of an employee's reservist leave will be included in determining the employee's length of employment, length of service and seniority, but will not be included in determining whether the employee has completed their probationary period.

18.35 Voting Leave

Each employee who is a Canadian citizen, eighteen (18) years or older and who is otherwise eligible to vote is entitled to three (3) consecutive hours during the polling hours on election day to vote in a Federal, Provincial or Municipal election.

18.36 If an employee's hours of work do not allow for three (3) consecutive hours away from work during the polling hours they will be granted sufficient time off with pay, at a time to be determined by their Supervisor, to meet the requirement in Article 18.35.

18.37 Education Leave

The parties acknowledge that the responsibility for professional development is shared between the employee and the Employer. In this regard, the parties will endeavor to provide flexible work schedules to

accommodate the employee's time off requirements.

- Leave of absence, with pay, for the purposes of further education directly related to the employee's employment with the Employer may be granted on written application by the employee to their manager or designate. Requests for such leave will not be unreasonably denied.
- b) A full-time or continuing part-time employee shall be entitled to a leave of absence without loss of earnings from their regularly scheduled working hours for the purpose of writing any examinations required in any recognized course in which employees are enrolled to upgrade their qualifications.
- c) Leave of absence without loss of regular earnings from regularly scheduled hours for the purpose of attending short courses, workshops or seminars directly related to the employee's employment at the Employer may be granted at the discretion of the Employer upon written application by the employee to their manager or designate. It is understood that any educational seminar for which an employee requests expense reimbursement, approval is to be authorized beforehand by the employer. If a mandatory course falls after hours or on a weekend, the employee will be reimbursed at regular straight time or a day in lieu.
- d) If an employee is required to travel outside regular work hours to attend a mandatory conference or a mandatory workshop for the employer then the employee shall be reimbursed for the travel time at straight time or time in lieu.

ARTICLE 19 – SICK LEAVE

- 19.01 Employees covered by this Collective Agreement who have completed their first three (3) months of employment are covered by the University's Sick Leave Plan, which provides leave with regular pay for any *bona fide* absence due to illness or injury.
- 19.02 Pursuant to the University's Sick Leave Plan and the University's administrative guidelines, employees who are unable to carry out their

assigned duties because of illness or injury are entitled to sick leave with pay for up to six (6) months or until the end of their appointment, whichever comes first. The administrative guidelines will be posted on the Human Resources website.

- 19.03 Employees are eligible for paid time off for *bona fide* incidental absences due to illness. The Employer will address excessive incidental absences, if any, through attendance management. With respect to probationary employees paid time off for incidental absences during the first three (3) months of employment shall not exceed a total of three (3) working days.
- 19.04 An employee who falls sick prior to an announced date of layoff will be paid only up to such day of layoff. If a person is sick at the time of recall from layoff, sick leave will only be paid if the illness is the same continuing one that existed at the time of the layoff.
- 19.05 Sick Leave is defined as absence from work and performance of regular duties because of the employee's *bona fide* illness, injury, or quarantine through exposure to contagious disease.
- 19.06 An employee may, with prior warning, be required to provide a physician's note confirming that the employee is medically unable to carry out normal duties due to illness. It is understood that a dentist will be considered a physician for the provisions of this Article. The Employer will reimburse the employee for the cost of the required physician's note up to a maximum of \$25.00 per note.
- 19.07 For those employees normally replaced, when absent, sick leave notification shall be made at least one (1) hour before the commencement of their shift. Those same employees shall endeavor to notify their supervisor of their ability to work their next scheduled shift by the end of business on the day preceding their next scheduled shift.
- 19.08 An employee shall notify their supervisor or designate as soon as possible

on the first day of their absence due to illness. In the case of longer absences, progress toward recovery and expected date of return to work shall be reported to the supervisor/designate and to the Return to Work Specialist at reasonable intervals.

- 19.09 Employees are expected to notify their supervisor/designate and the Return to Work Specialist as early as possible of their expected date of return to work.
- 19.10 Employees may be required to provide the Employer with a physician's certificate that the employee has been in the care of a physician and:
 - a) that the employee is able to return to work on a full-time basis without restrictions; or
 - b) that the employee is able to return to work, with the nature and duration of any work restrictions described.

The Employer will reimburse the employee for the cost of the required physician's certificate up to a maximum of \$50.00 per certificate.

- 19.11 If, during an employee's vacation, they have a serious illness or accident requiring hospitalization or confinement to bed for a period of five (5) days or more, and which is verified by medical documentation, then sick leave days may be substituted for vacation days. Any resulting unused vacation would then be rescheduled at a mutually convenient later date.
- 19.12 Absences due to pregnancy related illness, prior to the birth, shall be considered as sick leave under the Sick Leave Plan.

ARTICLE 20 – HEALTH AND SAFETY

20.01 The University is subject to the provisions of the *Occupational Health and Safety Act* and its regulations. It is agreed that the University and the Union will cooperate to the fullest possible extent in the prevention of accidents and the promotion of safety and health at the University. To this end, the Parties acknowledge and agree that all persons on University premises are required to comply with policies, procedures, regulations and standards relating to health and safety.

- 20.02 The Union will select a worker representative for the Family Medicine Joint Health and Safety Committee formed under the *Occupational Health and Safety Act*. This representative will not suffer a loss of regular straight time pay for time spent attending meetings of the Committee or carrying out duties as a worker representative.
- 20.03 A worker representative on the Family Medicine Joint Health and Safety Committee may become a certified worker representative on the Committee. The University will provide the required training for certification at no cost to the employee or the Union.
- 20.04 When a worker representative on the Family Medicine Joint Health and Safety Committee ceases to be employed in the bargaining unit, they will cease to be a worker representative on the Committee.

20.05 Family-Medicine Joint Health and Safety Committee

- The Family Medicine Joint Health and Safety Committee forms part of the Joint Multi-Workplace Health and Safety Committee structure governed by terms of reference at Queen's University.
- ii) Meetings shall be held pursuant to the Terms of Reference for the Family Medicine Joint Health and Safety Committee. The minutes of all meetings shall be posted in all sites of the Family Medicine workplace.
- iii) The Union agrees to endeavor to obtain the full cooperation of its membership in the observation of all safety rules and practices.
- iv) Where the employer identifies high risk areas where employees are exposed to infectious or communicable diseases for which there are available protective medications, such medications shall be provided at no cost to the employees.

- 20.06 The University encourages regular discussion between employees and managers regarding workload and priorities. This includes discussion about resources, advice and support to allow employees to manage their workload. In the event that an employee has a particular concern regarding their workload, they are to bring this concern to their manager's attention without delay. The manager will endeavour to have a discussion with the employee in a timely manner.
- 20.07 The Employer and the Union agree that workplace violence will not be condoned. Workplace violence is defined as:
 - a) the exercise of physical force by a person against a worker, in a workplace, that causes or could cause physical injury to the worker;
 - b) an attempt to exercise physical force against a worker, in a workplace, that could cause physical injury to the worker;
 - c) a statement or behaviour that is reasonable for a worker to interpret as a threat to exercise physical force against the worker, in a workplace, that could cause physical injury to the worker;
 - d) the Employer and the Union agree that incidents of verbal abuse will not be condoned.

An employee is required to report all incidents of workplace violence by completing the Department of Family Medicine/Queen's Family Health Team INCIDENT REPORT – STAFF MEMBER OR LEARNER.

ARTICLE 21 – VACATIONS

21.01 Vacations with pay shall be calculated on the basis of length of continuous service with the Employer as of January 1st in each year.

21.02 Annual vacation allowances are determined in accordance with the following:

Employment Year (based on calendar year)	Vacation Entitlement (increases to vacation entitlement take effect as of January 1 st of the year of the increase)
Year 1	1.25 days for each completed month of service up to a maximum of 15 days
Year 2	15 days
Year 3	16 days
Year 4	17 days
Year 5	18 days
Year 6	19 days
Year 7	20 days
Year 10	21 days
Year 12	22 days
Year 14	23 days
Year 16	24 days
Year 18	25 days
Year 19	26 days
Year 20	27 days
Year 22	28 days
Year 24	29 days
Year 25	30 days

21.03 The above table shall apply to full-time employees. However, continuing part-time employees, continuing term employees or reduced responsibility employees shall have their vacation entitlement pro-rated.

21.04 Vacation Scheduling

a) Employees shall indicate their annual vacation preference(s) on the Vacation Request Sheet by March 31st of each year, and the Employer shall post the final vacation schedule by May 1st of each year. Vacations will be scheduled at times mutually convenient to the Employer and employee having regard to operational requirements. Vacation requests submitted by March 31st shall be determined in accordance with seniority.

b) Prime Time Vacation

(i) It is understood between the parties that prime time includes the periods of June 15th to September 15th, inclusive.

(ii) The maximum amount of vacation that may be requested by any full-time employee during prime time vacation will be ten

(10) working days or seventy (70) hours. The maximum vacation that may be requested by any part-time employee during the prime time will be pro-rated by multiplying the ratio of actual to full-time hours worked annually by seventy (70) hours.

- (iii) Vacation approval during prime time will be determined on the basis of seniority.
- c) All vacation requests submitted subsequent to March 31st shall be granted on a first come first served basis.
- d) Requests for vacation shall not be unreasonably and/or arbitrarily denied.
- 21.05 Where a staff member has taken an unpaid leave of absence (not including pregnancy or parental leave) for a period or periods exceeding a total of one month in the twelve (12) month period preceding January 1, vacation entitlement shall be pro-rated for the period or periods actually worked.
- 21.06 The Employer shall not be required to grant a vacation at a time which would adversely affect the operational requirements. Vacation requests must be submitted pursuant to 21.04 above.
- 21.07 It is not the University's policy to pay employees in lieu of taking vacation time. Employees and Supervisors must make every effort to ensure that employees take full vacation entitlement within the year for which it was intended. Notwithstanding the foregoing, carryover of vacation to the following calendar year may occur if:
 - a) the supervisor grants an employee's written request for carryover, to a maximum of five (5) vacation days; or
 - exceptional operational circumstances prevented the utilization of vacation days. However, in no circumstance can an employee utilize less than ten (10) of their vacation days, or the pro-rated

equivalent for new employees, continuing part-time employees, continuing term employees or reduced responsibility employees, in a calendar year.

- 21.08 Vacation days that have been carried over into a subsequent calendar year must be utilized before that current year's vacation and must be utilized in the calendar year into which they were originally carried forward.
- 21.09 No employee may take more vacation than is accrued to their credit at the time the vacation commences.

21.10 Interruption of Vacation

- a) If a staff member's vacation is interrupted by a death for which they are entitled to Bereavement Leave then their entitlement to substitute Bereavement Leave for vacation shall be governed by Article 18.03.
- b) If a staff member's vacation is interrupted by a serious illness or accident then their entitlement to substitute sick leave for vacation time shall be governed by Article 19.11.

ARTICLE 22 – PAID HOLIDAYS

22.01 Employees will not normally be scheduled to work on the following holidays:

New Year's Day*	Civic Holiday
Family Day	Labour Day
Good Friday	Thanksgiving Day
Victoria Day	Christmas Day*
Canada Day	Boxing Day*
National Day of Truth and Reconciliation	

(*pay for work on Christmas Day, Boxing Day and New Year's Day is addressed below under "Christmas Closing")

Plus any other days of paid leave as designated by the Employer or the Government of Canada or the Government of Ontario.

- 22.02 Provided an employee has worked their full regularly scheduled shift immediately preceding and immediately following each of the above noted holidays, they will be paid holiday pay at their regular straight time hourly rate for all hours they would otherwise have normally been scheduled to work on the holiday. An employee shall not lose their entitlement to holiday pay if they are absent on one or both of the qualifying days referred to above due to *bona fide* illness or due to an approved paid leave.
- 22.03 If an employee is on an unpaid leave of absence when a paid holiday falls, the employee shall receive pay for the paid holiday in accordance with the section 24(a) of the *Employment Standards Act*.
- 22.04 Should a holiday enumerated in Article 22.01 fall on an employee's regularly scheduled day off and so long as the employee worked their full regularly scheduled shift immediately preceding and immediately following the holiday, the employee will receive an alternate day off with pay on a date that is mutually agreed between the employee and their supervisor, which date must occur not later than twelve (12) months following the holiday. An employee shall not lose the entitlement to an alternate day off with pay if the employee is absent on one or both of the qualifying days referred to in Article 22.01 due to *bona fide* illness or an approved paid leave.
- 22.05 If an employee works on a Paid Holiday that would otherwise be a working day for the employee, at the employee's choice:
 - a) the employee will receive pay at 1½ times their regular hourly rate for the hours worked on the paid holiday and another regular working day off with pay will be provided as a substitute for the holiday; or
 - b) the employee will receive their regular pay for the day *and* will receive premium pay at 1¹/₂ times their regular hourly rate for actual hours worked on the paid holiday;
 - c) An agreement under Paragraphs (a) or (b) must be made between the employee and their supervisor at the time the holiday work is scheduled.

- 22.06 If an employee works on a Paid Holiday that would **not** otherwise be a working day for the employee, at the employee's choice:
 - a) the employee will receive pay at their regular hourly rate for the hours worked on the paid holiday and substitute another regular working day off with pay; or
 - b) the employee will be paid for the day and receive premium pay at 1¹/₂ times their regular hourly rate for actual hours worked on the paid holiday.
 - c) An agreement under Paragraphs (a) or (b) must be made between the employee and their supervisor at the time the holiday work is scheduled.

22.07 Christmas Closing

During the closure of normal operations during the Christmas period employees are entitled to time off between Christmas and New Year's Day inclusive, and will receive regular pay for those hours they would have otherwise been scheduled to work.

22.08 Part-time employees will be scheduled up to their regular scheduled hours and will be offered extra hours up to thirty-five (35) hours for the week. If there are additional available hours then they shall be offered to casual employees. If there are still hours to be filled then those hours shall be offered to all staff on a voluntary basis. If no volunteers come forward then staff will be scheduled individual days in reverse order of seniority.

Clarification Note: Scheduling in reverse order of seniority entails calculating the number of shifts to be covered and offering a choice of those shifts to the most senior of the group of employees who will be assigned a shift. Once the most senior employee has chosen, the specific shifts remaining will be offered to the next most senior employee and so on until all shifts are staffed.

22.09 a) Should an employee be scheduled to work on any day during the Christmas closure that the employee would have normally worked if not for the closure, they will be paid in accordance with Article 22.05.

- b) Should an employee be scheduled to work on any day during the Christmas closure that the employee would **not** have normally worked if not for the closure, they will be paid in accordance with Article 22.06.
- 22.10 When Christmas Eve falls on a normal working day, regularly scheduled hours will cease at noon that day. However, if Christmas Eve falls on a Monday, then December 24th will be observed as part of the Christmas Closure. If Christmas Eve falls on a Saturday or Sunday, then regularly scheduled hours will be worked on the previous Friday.
- 22.11 If New Year's Day falls on a Thursday, Friday January 2nd will be observed as part of the Christmas Closure.
- 22.12 With the exception of Christmas, Boxing Day and New Year's Day, if any other observed holiday listed in Article 22.01 falls on a Saturday or Sunday, the University will designate an alternate day of observance.
- 22.13 If Christmas, Boxing Day and New Year's Day fall on a Saturday or Sunday, the alternate day will be part of the Christmas Closure, with the only exception being when New Year's Day falls on a Sunday, in which case it will be observed on Monday, January 2nd.
- 22.14 The actual dates of the closure (normal working days) will be determined by the University. In general, the dates of the closing will be in accordance with the day of the week upon which Christmas falls, according to the following guideline:

If Christmas Day Is	The Normal Week Off Is
Sunday	December 26, 27, 28, 29,30 and January 2
Monday	December 25, 26, 27, 28,29 and January 1
Tuesday	December 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 31 and January 1
Wednesday	December 25, 26, 27, 30, 31 and January 1
Thursday	December 25, 26, 29, 30, 31, January 1, and 2
Friday	December 25, 28, 29, 30, 31 and January 1
Saturday	December 27, 28, 29, 30, 31

22.15 Remembrance Day is not a Paid Holiday. However, an employee who wishes to attend one of Queen's Remembrance Day services during work hours will be allowed sufficient paid time to do so with the approval of their supervisor/designate. Such approval will not be unreasonably withheld. A staff member who wishes to attend an off-campus Remembrance Day service will be given sufficient time, up to a maximum of four (4) hours, to do so, with the first hour as paid time; the employee must request leave from their department head/designate a minimum of two (2) weeks in advance of November 11th.

ARTICLE 23 – PENSION, HEALTH, and MEDICAL BENEFITS

- 23.01 The University shall continue to make available to the employees the plans as outlined below. These plans shall be administered in accordance with the policies and procedures established by the University and/or the Insurer. Should it intend to amend or change any of the said plans the Employer will discuss such amendments or changes with the Union.
- 23.02 The terms and conditions of the University Pension Plan are not subject to collective bargaining, save and except for mutual agreement in writing to withdraw from the University Pension Plan pursuant to and in accordance with the terms and conditions of the University Pension Plan, including any notice provisions, for doing so.

23.03 Long Term Disability Income Plan (Premiums are 100% paid by Employee)

- a) Employees hired by the University on or after the date of ratification will be required to enroll in the Long Term Disability Insurance Plan.
 It is understood that when a bargaining unit member is placed on LTD their position will be held for a period of up to three (3) years.
- Employees age 65 and over are not eligible for coverage under this plan, so an employee may withdraw from enrollment in the LTD plan six (6) months prior to their 65th birthday.
- c) The Union will be notified by the Employer when LTD application documents have been sent to an employee.

- 23.04 <u>Group Life Insurance</u> (Premiums are 55% paid by Employer and 45% paid by Employee).
- 23.05 **Queen's Supplementary Medical Plan** (Premiums are 100% paid by the University)
- 23.06 **Dental Plan** (Premiums are 100% paid by the University)

ARTICLE 24 - EARLY AND SAFE RETURN TO WORK

- 24.01 The Employer recognizes the importance of early and safe return to work and the accommodation of employees with disabilities. In accordance with the Ontario *Human Rights Code* the Parties acknowledge their respective roles in fulfilling the duty to accommodate. The Employer will accommodate employees in accordance with the Ontario *Human Rights Code*. The Union and the employees will fully cooperate in the arrangement of such accommodation.
- 24.02 In fulfilling its duty to accommodate, the Employer has a responsibility to make every reasonable effort to provide, at the appropriate time, suitable modified or alternate employment to employees who are temporarily or permanently unable to return to their regular duties, as a result of an occupational or non-occupational injury or illness. Dependent on the circumstances, this may include the modification of work stations, equipment, or elements of the job, in keeping with the employee's medical requirements, providing that such accommodation does not create undue hardship to the Employer.
- 24.03 The University shall notify each employee who requires accommodation and/or is returning to work from a leave that was due to a disability of their right to representation. In the event an employee provides their written consent for the release of their medical information, a Union Representative or other appropriate OPSEU/SEFPO representative will be entitled to attend the employee's accommodation and/or return to work meeting, if such a meeting is required by the Employer. All return to work arrangements will be

in writing containing the details of the accommodation and signed by the employee, Union and Employer.

A Union Representative or other appropriate representative will not suffer a loss of pay when meeting with the University regarding accommodation and/or return to work issues.

ARTICLE 25 – ORGANIZATIONAL OR TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE

25.01 Technological Change

- The Employer undertakes to notify the Union in advance, so far as practicable, of any technological changes which the Employer has decided to introduce which will significantly change the status of the employees within the bargaining unit;
- b) The Employer agrees to discuss with the Union the effect of such technological changes on the employment status of the employees and to consider practical ways and means of minimizing the adverse effect, if any, on the employees concerned; and
- c) Employees who are subject to layoff due to technological changes will be given notice of such layoff at the earliest reasonable time and subject to the obligations contained in Article 15 – Seniority and Article 17 – Layoff and Recall.
- 25.02 The Employer agrees to provide employees whose work is directly affected by the introduction of new technology with the opportunity to receive appropriate training if such training is needed to perform the employee's duties in the current position. The Employer agrees that necessary training will be provided at no cost to the employees involved.

25.03 Organizational Change

In the event that organizational change is instituted, the Employer will notify the Union as soon as practicable of the impending change. The Employer undertakes to consider practical ways and means of minimizing the adverse effect, if any, on the employees concerned.

25.04 Registration Fees for 2024

If employed on January 31st of each year, all full-time and regular part-time employees will be reimbursed up to 50% of the cost of their regular annual renewal fees paid to their professional regulatory College for the current year and required as part of their role with QFHT. The reimbursement is only for one membership fee.

To qualify for reimbursement the employee must provide by no later than January 31st of each year proof of registration and payment made to their regulatory body.

The Employer agrees to provide reimbursement in the pay period in February as long as the Employer receives confirmation of payment and successful renewal no later than January 31.

ARTICLE 26 - TRANSPORTATION ALLOWANCE

- 26.01 Those employees who use their automobile to perform their duties for the Employer shall be reimbursed at the per kilometer rate set out in the University's *Policy for Travel and Related Expenses*, updated as of April 1, 2012. There may be circumstances where the Employer determines that a car rental is more cost effective for the Employer. As such, appropriate arrangements will be made with the car rental agency to acquire a car rental for purposes of the employee performing their duties.
- 26.02 In the appropriate circumstances, employees receiving kilometrage allowance shall obtain third party liability insurance coverage in the minimum amount of \$1,000,000.00 inclusive coverage and shall file a certificate of such insurance coverage with the Employer. If an employee is required to do a home visit, at the discretion of their manager, they may either use their vehicle or be reimbursed for taxi fare
- 26.03 Employees who are required to make home visits shall notify their respective manager or designate that they have safely arrived at and concluded the visit.

ARTICLE 27 – EMPLOYEE FILES

- 27.01 Personnel files are the property of the University. Except as otherwise permitted/required by this Agreement, documents contained in personnel files will not be removed or destroyed while the employee remains employed with the University.
- 27.02 There shall be only one (1) official personnel file kept for each employee, which shall be maintained under the care and control of the Human Resources Department. When the University is considering disciplinary action, the employee's prior disciplinary record can only be assessed based on the information contained in the employee's official personnel file.
- 27.03 The University recognizes the rights of an individual to their privacy. Information about the employment and performance of University employees is considered to be confidential and will not be released to a third party unless the employee has provided a written authorization for the release of specific information or unless required by law.
- 27.04 An employee shall have the right, within five (5) days after submitting a written request to Human Resources therefor, to examine their official personnel file during normal business hours, in the presence of a representative from the Human Resources Department.
- 27.05 Access to personnel files will be limited to:
 - a) the employee;
 - b) staff in HR; and
 - c) other authorized University officials in connection with personnel, administrative and/or labour relations matters.

27.06 Effect of Leave of Absence on Discipline on File

If an employee has discipline on their file and is away from the workplace on a leave of absence in excess of thirty (30) calendar days, the period of the leave will not count toward the discipline's sunset clause of eighteen (18) months.

27.07 Employee Health / Return to Work Files

- a) All Employee Health / Return to Work files will be kept in an area separate from all other personnel files and under secure conditions.
- b) Access will be limited to authorized persons within HR including but not limited to the Return to Work Specialist, who have a legitimate reason to access such files, it being understood that such persons may be required to supply information from those files to:
 - the employee's Supervisor to facilitate return to work, and where relevant, accommodation, excluding information disclosing diagnosis, treatment type, or the designation of a medical specialist;
 - the Employer's authorized agents who determine entitlement to and administer both the University's Sick leave and Long Term Disability plans;
 - (iii) the Workplace Safety and Insurance Board (WSIB); or
 - (iv) any authorized agent from any government or regulatory body entitled to access such information pursuant to applicable legislation.

ARTICLE 28 – PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT/ORIENTATION.

28.01 Professional Development

Continuing professional development is a hallmark of the paramedical and nursing professions, including but not limited to nursing, pharmacy, social work, and dietetics, recognizing the importance of maintaining dynamic practice environments which include ongoing learning, maintaining competencies and career development. The Parties agree that professional development includes a diverse range of activities, including but not limited to formal academic programs, short-term continuing education, certification programs, and independent learning participation. The Parties recognize that participation in and commitment to professional development is a joint Union/Employer responsibility. To that end, the Parties agree:

- Responsibility for professional development will be shared between the individual and the Employer; and
- All employees shall have the opportunity to access programming which is required to fulfill their job duties and/or beneficial to their professional practice including:
 - (i) an orientation program; and
 - (ii) regular in-service training.

28.02 **Remuneration**

- a) An employee shall suffer no loss of regular pay by reason of their participation in training.
- b) If mandatory in-service is scheduled during an employee's work hours, they shall attend and be compensated at their regular hourly rate. If mandatory in-service is scheduled outside of an employee's working hours, they shall be required to attend the mandatory in- service and shall be remunerated at 1.5 times their hourly rate.

28.03 Orientation

It is agreed that an orientation program will be provided to newly hired employees as follows:

- a) The orientation as performed by the Clinic Manager of the Family Health Team or designate shall include a familiarization with the departments' physical environment, applicable Employer policies and Family Health Team policies and procedures.
- b) Newly hired employees will be given an orientation checklist to be completed during the course of the employee's orientation and to be reviewed with the Clinic Manager, Family Health Team or designate upon completion of the employee's orientation.

c) Employees who displace other employees in the event of a layoff, employees recalled from layoff, and employees who are returning from an extended leave may be provided any orientation determined necessary by the Employer for the purposes of allowing the employee to satisfactorily assume the duties of the position. An employee may also request an orientation review, which request shall not be unreasonably denied.

28.04 Student Supervision

- a) Employees may be approached by the Employer to supervise activities of students. Equally the Employer will entertain the specific requests of current employees who wish to supervise students from their respective practice areas. If any employee chooses to supervise the student(s), the employee will be informed in writing of their responsibilities in relation to the student(s) and will be provided with what the Employer determines to be appropriate training for purposes of effecting the student's supervision.
- b) Any information that is provided to the Employer by the educational institution with respect to the skill level of the student(s) will be made available to the employee recruited to supervise the student(s). Upon request, the Employer will review the employee's workload with the employee and the student to facilitate successful completion of the assignment.
- c) Effective the date of ratification, where an employee is assigned to student supervision duties, the Employer will pay the employee a premium of \$1.00 per hour for all hours spent supervising the student(s). If an alternate compensation arrangement exists, the employee will be paid the greater of the two (2) amounts.

28.05 **Professional Responsibility**

The Parties have a mutual interest in the provision of quality patient care. Therefore, when an employee, or group of employees, covered by this Agreement and governed by an Ontario College under the *Regulated Health Professions Act*, have cause to believe that they are being asked to perform work that is inconsistent with proper patient care it is agreed by the parties that such workload problems may be discussed at Labour Management.

ARTICLE 29 – MISCELLANEOUS

29.01 Bulletin Boards

The Employer will provide space on a designated bulletin board upon which the Union shall have the right to post notices of meetings and other notices which may be of interest to the employees. All material posted or distributed must comply with the University's Signage Policy.

29.02 Cost of Printing Collective Agreements

The cost of printing the Collective Agreement will be shared equally by Queen's University and the Union.

- 29.03 Where the singular is used in this Agreement, it is agreed that the plural is included in such reference, wherever plurality is applicable.
- 29.04 This Agreement will be posted to the Human Resources website. In addition, the Employer will make copies of the Agreement available to each newly hired employee upon the commencement of their initial appointment/work assignment; the Agreement will be made available in electronic format, unless a printed copy is requested by an employee.
- 29.05 It is each employee's responsibility to notify the Employer in writing of any change in the employee's mailing address. The Employer shall be entitled to rely upon the last address furnished by the employee for all purposes.
- 29.06 All formal notices to the Union or to the Employer required by this Agreement or incidental thereto shall pass to and from the Employer's Director of Employee/Labour Relations or their designate, and the OPSEU/SEFPO Staff Representative or their designate.

ARTICLE 30 – JOB SHARING

30.01 The Employer and the Union agree job sharing arrangements may be entered into between the parties. Job Sharing is defined as an arrangement whereby two (2) employees share the hours of work of what would otherwise be one (1) full-time position.

30.02 **Purpose**

- a) It is understood and accepted that the two (2) employees who are assuming the one (1) full-time position undertake to do so on a fulltime permanent basis unless and until there is cancellation or withdrawal by one or both employees or the Employer.
- b) In the event of cancellation or withdrawal, thirty (30) days' written notice is required to the other parties and such cancellation or withdrawal shall not be the subject of a grievance or subject to arbitration, unless it is arbitrary or unreasonable.
- c) Participation in job sharing shall be on a voluntary basis.
- d) Participants in the job share must be in the same position classification and each will be remunerated at their own current step salary rate.

30.03 Implementation

- a) It is acknowledged and recognized that only full-time employees shall be considered for job sharing arrangement.
- Where the job sharing arrangement arises out of two (2) full-time employees filling a vacant full-time position, the resulting two (2) full-time position vacancies will be subject to the posting and selection procedures outlined in Article 13 Job Posting in this Collective Agreement.
- c) Any incumbent full-time employee wishing to share their fulltime position may become a party to a job sharing arrangement without the requirement for their portion of the full-time job share

position being posted. The remaining portion of the full-time position available for job share, however, will be subject to the posting and selection procedures outlined in Article 13 – Job Posting in this Collective Agreement.

- d) Where two (2) full-time employees wish to job share one (1) position, it is in the Employer's discretion to determine where, if any, job vacancy exists as a result of the job share and if such vacancy(ies) exist will be subject to the posting and selection procedures outlined in Article 13 Job Posting in this collective agreement.
- e) The employees involved in a job sharing arrangement continue to receive benefits on a pro-rata basis (calculated in accordance with number of hours worked) available to them pursuant to this Agreement.
 - Seniority accrual and credit for service for each employee of the job share shall be based on the hours worked.
 - (ii) For the purposes of vacation (Article 21 Vacations), the employee shall have their vacation entitlement pro-rated.
 - (iii) For the purposes of Paid Holidays (Article 22 Paid Holidays) the employee shall be paid a pro-rated portion for each designated holiday and Christmas Closing based on their normal hours of work as set out in the schedule.
 - (iv) Short-term sickness and other benefits shall be pro-rated based on normal hours of work as set out in the schedule.
- f) The job sharers shall propose a schedule of shift coverage for approval by the supervisor. The supervisor will review the proposed shift schedule and will confirm approval in writing, provided the schedule meets the operational needs of the Clinic.
- g) If one of the job sharers wishes to leave the job share arrangement, they shall provide their supervisor with thirty (30) days written notice. The vacant portion of the job share position shall be subject

to the posting and selection procedures outlined in Article 13 – Job Posting in this Collective Agreement. If there is not a successful applicant to the job share position, the remaining employee will revert to their former status as a full-time employee and the shared position shall become their full-time position.

30.04 Absences and Leaves

- a) In cases of incidental illnesses and vacation, the hours will first be offered to the job share partner. If the partner declines, then it will be offered to other employees.
- b) In the event that one employee of the job sharing arrangement will be off work for a prolonged or extended absence, such as a Pregnancy Leave or extended vacation, the supervisor must be notified in writing by the employee in order to book coverage for the absence. The supervisor will review the needs of the coverage and will advise the remaining employee of those coverage needs. If the remaining partner is unable to cover some or all of the absent partner's shifts, they must advise the supervisor in writing.

30.05 **Discontinuation**

- a) The Employer may discontinue the job sharing arrangement with ninety (90) days' written notice to the other party(ies).
- A meeting shall be held between the parties within fifteen (15) days to discuss the discontinuation. It is understood and agreed that such discontinuation shall not be unreasonable or arbitrary.
- c) Should the Employer determine that the job share arrangements should be discontinued, the employees currently working in the job share arrangement would be entitled to a full-time vacancy if such vacancy exists or will be provided notice of layoff in accordance with Article 17 – Layoff and Recall of the Collective Agreement.

ARTICLE 31 – SALARIES AND CLASSIFICATIONS

- 31.01 Salaries in present classifications are set forth in Appendix "A" and remain in effect for the duration of this Agreement.
- 31.02 During the term of this Agreement should the employer create any new position within the jurisdiction of the bargaining unit which does not fall within the categories contained in Appendix "A", the appropriate rate of pay for such position shall be discussed by the Employer and the Union. If the parties are unable to agree on the rate of pay for the job in question, the dispute shall be resolved to arbitration in accordance with grievance and arbitration provisions of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 32 – DURATION OF AGREEMENT

- 32.01 This Agreement shall remain in full force and effect from July 1, 2022 and extend to June 30, 2025 and from year to year thereafter, unless either party notifies the other in writing of its termination or proposed revision, addition or deletion of any of its provisions. Such notification will be made not more than ninety (90) days prior to the termination date of this Agreement.
- 32.02 All changes other than salary are effective the date of the Union's ratification unless otherwise expressly provided.

13 August 2024 | 8:49 AM EDT

Signed at ______, 20____,

	FOR THE UNION
Francine Janiuk	signed by: Leanna Benton
Josh Graham	Meli McNill
546688889AC1846F	ତ୍ୟୁ ଅନୁମିକ୍ତି ଅନୁସେହେ ଅ
_Julia Fournier 	Jessica Waller Bebezähledebegggggggggg
Lisa Walsh Bocussianessbayabc	Sherri Haley
Sandra Valente Roscher F42F5DD988D44AB	<u>Klonda Ferguson</u> 0448332AA85E429

APPENDIX A: WAGES

	Effective Date	July 1, 2021	July 1, 2022	July 1, 2023	July 1, 2024
	Years of Experience				
Dietitian	· · · ·				
Step 1	< 5 years	37.21	39.28	40.07	40.87
Step 2	5 years	38.32	40.46	41.27	42.10
Step 3	8 years	39.47	41.67	42.50	43.35
Step 4	15 years			43.78	44.66
Pharmac	Pharmacist				
Step 1	< 5 years	53.15	54.61	55.70	56.81
Step 2	5 years	54.73	56.24	57.36	58.51
Step 3	8 years	56.38	57.93	59.09	60.27
Registered Practical Nurse					
Step 1	< 5 years	25.11	26.51	27.04	27.69
Step 2	5 years	26.38	27.85	28.41	29.09
Step 3	7 years	27.71	29.26	29.85	30.56
Step 4	10 years	29.14	30.76	31.38	32.12
Social Worker (MSW)					
Step 1	< 5 years	41.28	43.58	44.45	45.34
Step 2	5 years	42.50	44.87	45.77	46.69
Step 3	8 years	43.79	46.23	47.15	48.09
Step 4	15 years			48.56	49.53

1. Year 1 – Effective July 1, 2022

An Across the Board (ATB) increase of 2.75% will be applied to the base hourly rates. In addition, a market increase of 2.75% will be applied to the base hourly rates for Registered Practical Nurses, Social Workers, and Dietitians. Each employee who was employed in the bargaining unit on or after July 1, 2022 and who remains employed in the bargaining unit on the date of ratification of this renewal agreement will receive a retroactive payment based on all hours paid.

2. Year 2 – Effective July 1, 2023

i) An ATB increase of 2% will be applied to the base hourly rates. Each employee who was employed in the bargaining unit on or after July 1, 2023

and who remains employed in the bargaining unit on the date of ratification of this renewal agreement will receive a retroactive payment based on all hours paid.

- ii) A new Step, at 15 years of experience, will be added for Social Workers and Dietitians. Each employee eligible for this step, who was employed in the bargaining unit on or after July 1, 2023 and who remains employed in the bargaining unit on the date of ratification of this renewal agreement will receive a retroactive payment based on all hours paid.
- 3. Year 3 Effective July 1, 2024:
 - i) An ATB increase of 2% will be applied to the base hourly rates.
 - ii) An additional eleven (11) cents will be applied to the base hourly rate for the Registered Practical Nurses.
- 4. Upon verification by the Queen's Family Health Team, on hiring, employees shall receive recognition for relevant and recent experience in their field of work pursuant to the step schedule contained in the Wage Appendix.
- 5. In the month of attaining the years of relevant and recent experience that is required in the step schedule contained in the Wage Appendix, a full-time employee will move up to the next step to the maximum step increase.
- 6. Part-time employees will be treated in accordance with the seniority provisions in Article 15.02.

APPENDIX B: TUITION SUPPORT PLAN

Effective one (1) month following the date of ratification, the nominal value of the fund established for this plan shall be \$6,000.00 dollars.

Eligibility:

A spouse and any dependent children of the OPSEU/SEFPO bargaining unit member are eligible for tuition support payments through this plan provided that the member meets the following criteria: that the OPSEU/SEFPO bargaining unit member has been continuously employed for at least one year and currently holds a continuing or term appointment of at least one (1) year's duration.

Plan:

The support allowance can be applied to full-time or part-time undergraduate, graduate, and professional programs offered for credit at Queen's University or any other recognized university or college (as defined below). The maximum allowance under this plan is \$3,000 per academic year, per student. In the case of students not taking a full course load; the allowance will be prorated based on the student's percent course load in comparison with a full-time course load at that institution. Employees who work less than full-time will have their allowance prorated to reflect the same percentage as time worked (e.g. 80% time appointment, 80% of \$3,000.00 per academic year per student).

To be eligible, the student must meet the admission requirements of the program and maintain academic standing at the institution that they are registered.

Allowances will be made in two installments. An initial installment will be made in the fall term upon confirmation of registration and once the balance of the fund has been calculated and prorated among the number of claimants if applicable. This sum shall not exceed \$2,000.00 per claimant. A second and final installment will be made in the winter term upon confirmation of registration and once the balance of the fund has been calculated and prorated among the number of claimants if applicable. This sum shall not exceed \$1,000.00 per claimant. Students will be required to provide proof of continuing academic standing at their institution.

Applicants who are attending an institution where the first term begins during Queen's Winter term will receive the calculated amount for the first installment (to a maximum of \$2,000.00) for this term. The amount paid for the second term would be the amount calculated for the Queen's Winter term (up to a maximum of \$1,000.00). These applications should be submitted manually by contacting Human Resources directly.

Claimants will provide any and all documentation as required to administer this plan.

There are a number of similar plans with different employee groups at the University. If both parents are employees of Queen's University and each parent is covered under

this plan or under a separate plan, only one claim per dependent child/spouse will be reimbursed by the University.

Term dates are as follows: Fall term means September through December and Winter term means January through April. Courses taken May through August are claimed and paid in combination with the fall term reimbursement. This plan will be administered by the University Registrar and all documentation must be received by that department between September 1 and October 31 for the Fall term and between January 1 and February 28 for the Winter term.

This is a taxable benefit.

These funds will be available on July 1 of each year of this Agreement. In the event that the value of the eligible claims is less than the total amount available then the surplus will **not** be carried forward to the next year but can be transferred in whole or in part to the Child Care Support Plan (Appendix E) as requested by the Union no later than April 15th.

The funds available for this plan will be reviewed prior to Fall and Winter payments to ensure appropriate distribution and allocation of all funds.

Definitions:

- 1. **Dependent children:** natural, step, common law or adopted children under the age of twenty-five (25) prior to September 1st in the year of application will be eligible to apply for Fall and Winter reimbursement. Dependent children: natural, step, common law or adopted children under the age of twenty-five (25) prior to May 1st in the given year of application will be eligible to apply for Spring/Summer reimbursement to be paid in combination with the fall applications.
- 2. **Spouse:** a legal spouse, or common law spouse or partner.
- 3. Recognized university or college is an institution that: in Canada is a member of, or eligible for membership in, Universities Canada (formerly AUCC) or Colleges and Institutes Canada (formerly ACCC), and in the United States conforms to the various general guidelines of accreditation used by American universities and colleges. Where:
 - i) students undertake study outside Canada and the United States where no recognized accrediting bodies exist, or
 - ii) where students undertake study in discernibly high quality nonuniversity or college based programs, students will apply on a case by case basis to the Office of the University Registrar.
- 4. Full course load: is 100% course load.

- 5. **Prorated allowance (course load):** is payment made for students with a course load of less than 100%; the payment will be prorated based on the student's course load in comparison with a 100% course load at the attending institution.
- 6. Prorated allowance (employees who work less than full-time): payment is prorated to reflect the same percentage as time worked. (e.g. 80% time appointment = 80% of allowance).
- 7. **Prorated allowance (available funds):** payment is prorated among the number of claimants and available funds.
- 8. Fall Term: This period covers May through December; courses taken during this period are combined and the maximum allowance for this period shall not exceed \$2,000.00 per student.
- **9. Winter Term:** This period covers January 1st through April 30th; courses taken during this period are combined and the maximum allowance for this period shall not exceed \$1,000.00 per student. Applicants who are attending an institution where the first term begins during Queen's Winter term will receive the calculated amount for the first installment (to a maximum of \$2,000.00) for this term.

APPENDIX C: TUITION ASSISTANCE PROGRAM

Policy

The Tuition Assistance Program supports Queen's commitment to the development of employee skills and abilities. Departments are asked to endorse employees who wish to enroll in academic courses or attend training courses that will enhance their personal growth or ability to perform their duties.

The Tuition Assistance Program is divided into two (2) components - the Educational Development Fund which pays tuition fees for Queen's credit courses, and the Professional Development Fund which reimburses tuition fees (to a maximum of \$400.00 per year) for work-related courses at other recognized educational institutions.

Educational Development Fund (Queen's credit courses)

Eligibility

Eligible employees are entitled to have the payment of tuition fees for Queen's credit courses waived at the time of registration. Employees with appointments of 40% or more will be eligible for tuition payment waiver after one (1) year of continuous employment at Queen's University.

Eligibility for tuition payment waiver will be confirmed by Human Resources at the time of course registration and is based on the employee's employment status during the course offering.

Access

Per year (September to September), payment of tuition fees will be waived for all eligible employees to a maximum of the equivalent dollar value of five full-credit undergraduate Arts & Science courses (based on the fee schedule for Canadian students). The amount of assistance will be pro-rated to correspond with an employee's terms of appointment.

• For example, an employee who has a 60% appointment could waive payment of tuition fees to a maximum of 60% of the dollar value of five (5) full-credit undergraduate Arts & Science courses.

Fees for graduate degree programs are based on term fees and not by individual courses; therefore, payment of tuition fees to the maximum already noted will be waived for an eligible employee enrolled part-time in a graduate degree program. Any additional fees will be the responsibility of the individual employee. The assistance is limited to five (5) years of continuous registration for a master's degree program and seven (7) years of continuous registration for a doctoral degree program.

Fees related to non-credit or audited courses are not eligible for tuition assistance and must be paid by the employee at the time of registration.

While departments are encouraged to allow employees to attend training programs on work-time, the University recognizes that operational requirements must also be met.

Therefore, subject to the approval of the department head, employees may have a maximum of three (3) hours of release time from work per week to attend classes at Queen's University. This approval may be granted provided that such leave will not unreasonably disrupt the normal operations of the department nor place an unfair burden on remaining staff members. Special circumstances must be negotiated with the department head. Requirements for course work in addition to lecture hours (e.g., lab work, library research, study time) are to be met outside of working hours. When the examination for a course being taken by an employee is scheduled during the employee's normal working hours, release time from work will be granted.

Tuition Assistance Tracking System

A tuition assistance tracking system will be established for each eligible employee. This tracking system will contain a dollar amount equal to five (5) full-credit undergraduate Arts & Science courses (based on the fee schedule for Canadian students) times the percentage of the employee's appointment. When an employee accesses the Educational Development Fund, their record in the tuition assistance tracking system will be reduced until it reaches a zero balance.

Once an employee's record reaches zero, they will be fully responsible for paying any further tuition fees, at the time of registration. If an employee drops a course, their record in the tracking system will be reduced by the course fee, in line with the University's drop policy. If an employee fails a course, the full tuition fee will be deducted from their record. The employee will not be required to pay any course fees for dropped or failed courses unless their record in the tracking system is at zero.

Records in the tuition assistance tracking system will be refreshed each September.

An employee may not transfer or carry forward any unused amounts in their record, nor borrow against the next year's amount. Transfer of amounts from one employee to another is also not permitted.

Enrolment

In order to have payment of tuition fees waived, employees will require an authorized Tuition Fee Waiver form each term. This can be obtained from the Organizational Development and Learning Unit in Human Resources. Forward the signed Tuition Fee Waiver form to the Fee Payment section of the Office of the University Registrar.

Note: Each employee will be required to pay their tuition fee if a completed Tuition Fee Waiver form is not on file in the Office of the University Registrar.

The same application/registration procedure is required of employees as for any other student.

Employees are directed to contact the appropriate Faculty office or the Office of the University Registrar with any questions.

Exclusions

Student Activity Fees, Admission Fees, Late Registration Fees, material, lab, administration or any other ancillary fees are not covered under this Appendix. The payment of any of these fees is the responsibility of the employee.

Employees enrolled in undergraduate and/or graduate courses will be assessed activity fees by the respective student governments (Alma Mater Society, Society of Graduate & Professional Students). Opting out/payment of these fees is the responsibility of the employee. These fees are not covered under this Appendix.

Other

All admission and registration requirements are the same as those for regular students. In addition, employees are subject to the same academic and fee assessment criteria as outlined in the Faculty calendars.

Questions regarding the Educational Development Fund should be directed to the Organizational Development and Learning Unit in Human Resources.

Professional Development Fund

Eligibility

All eligible employees, as previously defined under the 'Educational Development Fund', are entitled to reimbursement of their tuition fees (to a maximum of \$400.00 per year) for job-related courses taken at other recognized educational institutions.

Conference, seminar, or workshop registration fees are not eligible for reimbursement through the Professional Development Fund. Departments sending employees to such programs may pay these fees from their departmental budgets.

Access

Eligible employees will be reimbursed external tuition fees to a maximum of \$400.00 in one year (a year being September to September) upon successful completion of a job- related course. Any additional fees will be the responsibility of the individual employee. Release time from work to attend classes requires the written approval of the department head. Normally, this approval will only be granted for a course which is directly related to the employee's present job and which is not offered at any other time.

Reimbursement

To receive reimbursement, eligible employees will advise the Learning and Development Specialist of their course selections, and submit copies of their registration forms accompanied by original receipts.

- The Learning and Development Specialist will determine if a course is job related and, therefore, eligible for reimbursement. This will normally occur at the time of course registration.
- Auditing, material, student interest and other ancillary fees are not eligible for reimbursement and are the responsibility of the employee.
- Upon successful completion of a course, a copy of a transcript or other official document will be forwarded to the Learning and Development Specialist to obtain reimbursement of the tuition fees.
- Tuition fees will only be reimbursed in the year in which the fees were incurred. This means that reimbursement is not retroactive.

APPENDIX D: SELF-FUNDED LEAVE

Queen's has established a plan which enables employees to self-fund a leave of absence. Employees holding a continuing appointment are eligible to enroll in this plan.

The precise terms and conditions governing the plan are set out in a formal agreement which the employee will be required to sign prior to joining the plan. In the event that the self-funded leave plan, as described in this Appendix or in the formal agreement with the employee, conflicts with the Income Tax Act or any other legislation, that legislation shall take precedence.

The plan is solely a means to fund a leave of absence. The provisions of the plan do not alter existing policies set out in the Queen's University Staff Policies or this Collective Agreement.

Procedures

- 1. Initial approval to participate in the Self-Funded Leave Plan must be given by the employee's department, and final approval given by the appropriate dean or vice- principal. Denial at either stage shall not be considered a violation of the agreement. However, approval will not be unreasonably denied.
- 2. Under this plan, a part of an employee's salary entitlement for a specified period would not be paid to the employee, but would be put in to an interest bearing trust fund. At the end of the specified period, the employee would go on leave of absence and be paid in monthly installments the amount set aside in the interest bearing trust. For example, under this plan, an employee may work full time for three (3) years, but receive (and pay tax on) only 75% of their normal salary. The remaining 25% would be held in an interest bearing trust for the employee. In year four, the employee would go on leave of absence and receive the amounts which had been set aside in the previous years. (The 75%/25% are used to illustrate how the program works.) The employee has many options for the deferred amount and the length of the leave.

The tax advantage to this program is that the employee may earn income in one (1) year but not pay tax on that income until a subsequent year. Also, by receiving 75% of full time salary for four (4) years instead of 100% salary for three (3) years, the employee may possibly end up in a lower tax bracket and pay less total tax on the same total salary.

3. Deferral of salary may not exceed 33% of earned salary. The employee may defer any fraction which is less than this percentage. The deferred amount will be held in trust by the Bank of Montreal in the name of the employee. Interest, based on the Bank of Montreal Savings Account rate, will be paid to the employee in a lump sum at the beginning of the leave period. The interest received is taxable and the amount will be reported to the employee's personal tax return each year even though they have not received payment. The amount of interest earned will be reported to the employee on a T5 form each year.

- 4. The leave must be at least six (6) months and no longer than a year. The leave must start within six (6) years of the date of the first deferral.
- 5. The purpose of the plan is to fund a leave of absence. It is not intended to help fund a retirement or other permanent separation from the University. Upon completing the leave of absence the employee must return to the University for a period equal to or greater than the duration of the leave.
- 6. Leaves must be taken at the end of the deferral period. The employee may not, for example, take a leave in year two (2) and then pay the University back over the next three (3) years.
- 7. During the leave, the individual may not be employed by the University in any capacity even if that employment is casual and unrelated to their normal duties.
- 8. During the years that an employee is participating in the self-funded leave plan,

C.P.P. must be based on actual earnings and EI on non-actual earnings. Life insurance benefits may be based and supported by the University on nominal earnings (100%). Supplementary Medical, Dental and Semi-Private hospitalization, because they are flat rates, will remain the same and will continue to be supported by the University. Long Term Disability benefits will be based on nominal earnings, so that if an individual were to become disabled during the deferral period or their leave, then full salary would be insured. Premiums will continue to be paid in full by the employee. An employee may also have the choice of contributing to the pension plan, based on their nominal or actual salary for the full term of the program (if allowed by Revenue Canada), with continued University support. Arrangements must be made before the leave for an employee to pay their share of the premiums for their chosen benefit coverage.

9. It is expected that an employee will continue to be committed to their plan for self- funded leave. However, in the case of unforeseen or extenuating circumstances, an employee may withdraw from the plan prior to taking their leave of absence provided that they notify the department head and the Plan Administrator in writing. The accumulated salary deferral less required tax withholdings plus current year accrued interest will be returned to the employee upon withdrawal. Withdrawal from the plan does not prevent the employee from entering a new plan at a later date.

Other Matters

- 1. On return from leave, an employee shall be assigned to the same position, or an alternative position mutually agreeable to the employee and the University at the same level as that held prior to going on leave. An employee participating in this plan will not suffer a penalty in compensation or benefits should a delay be caused by the University in returning the employee to their former position or an alternate position after the completion of their leave.
- 2. An employee participating in the plan shall be eligible upon return from leave for any automatic increase in salary that would have been received had the leave not been taken. Vacation entitlement shall not accumulate, but credit will continue to accrue during the time spent on leave. If an employee becomes ill, no sick leave will be charged during the duration of the leave - sick leave will commence on the individual's return date.
- 3. If an individual becomes pregnant prior to taking their leave they may opt out of the plan, continue with the plan, remain in the plan but stop contributions while on pregnancy leave and experience a smaller accumulation amount in their account, or they may extend the deferral period.
- 4. Should an employee die while participating in the plan, any balance in the employee's account at the time of death shall be paid to the employee's estate.
- 5. An employee shall assume the responsibility of making herself aware of the implications of the plan related to its effects on pension provisions and income tax. Those wishing to participate in the last five (5) years before retirement should take care to look into the implications of doing so.
- 6. Participation in the plan shall not enlarge or establish any rights to employment with the University which the employee did not formerly possess.
- 7. The University intends to maintain the Plan in force indefinitely, but nevertheless reserves the right to amend, or discontinue the plan in whole or in part, at any time or times. However, no amendment to the plan initiated by the University shall operate to reduce the benefits accruing to employees who are enrolled in the plan at the time of amendment.
- 8. This plan is administered by the Human Resources Department. Questions regarding this policy should be addressed to Human Resources.

APPENDIX E: CHILD CARE BENEFIT PLAN

Effective one (1) month following the date of ratification, the nominal value of the fund established for this plan shall be \$6,000.00 dollars.

Eligibility:

An OPSEU/SEFPO bargaining unit member who has a dependent child(ren) under the age of seven (7), is eligible for reimbursement under the Child Care Benefit Plan provided that the following criteria are met: that the OPSEU/SEFPO bargaining unit member has been continuously employed for at least one (1) year and currently holds a continuing or term appointment of at least one (1) year's duration.

Plan:

- Reimbursements are limited to 50% of the rate paid. Employees are required to submit proof of attendance and rates paid for the benefit year. Applications are submitted between January 1 and February 28 following the year the expenses were incurred. All documentation must be received in Human Resources by February 28.
- The maximum half day reimbursement will be \$10.00 per day. A half day is defined as a minimum of four (4) hours and less than six (6) hours or where the parent is being charged a half-day rate by the child care facility.
- The maximum full day reimbursement will be \$20.00 per day. A full day rate is defined as a minimum of six (6) hours or where the parent is being charged a full day rate by the child care facility.
- If a monthly rate was paid, maximum reimbursement for half day attendance will be \$220.00 or full day attendance will be \$440.00.
- Reimbursement will be made only for the child care expense payments that meet the Canada Revenue Agency definitions for the *Child Care Expenses Deduction*.
- Reimbursement will only be made if the child care costs are incurred at the usual facility attended by the child. Reimbursement will not be provided for casual or emergency care.
- There are a number of similar plans with different employee groups at the University. If both parents are employees of Queen's University and each parent is covered under this plan or under a separate plan, only one claim per child will be reimbursed by the University.
- The plan maximum of \$2000.00 per child will be provided only once per calendar year. Any amount payable under this plan will be prorated based on the employee's appointment if it is less than full-time (e.g. 80% time appointment, 80%

of \$2000.00 per child). There is no carry-over provision if the \$2000.00 is not used per year.

- Eligible dependent children are natural, step, common-law or adopted children under the age of seven (7).
- This is a taxable benefit.
- This program will include before and/or after school programs, school professional activity days and summer camps as defined under Appendix F.
- The nominal value of the fund established for this plan is \$6,000.00. These funds will be available on July 1 of each year of this agreement. In the event that the value of the eligible claims is less than the total amount available there will be no carry forward to the next year however funds may be transferred in whole or in part to the Tuition Support Plan as requested by the Union no later than April 15th.
 - The funds available for this plan will be reviewed annually prior to payment to ensure appropriate distribution and allocation of all funds.

APPENDIX F: CHILD CARE BENEFIT PLAN

Before and/or after school programs, school professional activity days, or summer camps.

Eligibility:

An OPSEU/SEFPO bargaining unit member as defined under Eligibility in Appendix E Child Care Benefit Plan, who has dependent children under the age of eleven (11), in before and/or after school programs, school professional activity days, or summer camp is eligible for reimbursement under this Appendix.

Plan:

- Claims paid under this Appendix are funded from the Child Care Benefit Plan Fund as described in Appendix E.
- Reimbursements are limited to 50% of the rate paid. Employees are required to submit proof of attendance and rates paid for the benefit year. Applications are to be submitted between January 1 and February 28 following the year the expenses were incurred. All documentation must be received in Human Resources by February 28.
- The daily maximum reimbursement for before, after or both before and after school programs will be \$5.00.
- If a monthly rate was paid, maximum reimbursement for before and/or after school programs will be \$110.00.
- The daily maximum reimbursement for professional activity days will be \$5.00.
- The daily maximum reimbursement for summer camp will be \$5.00.
- Reimbursement will be made only for the child care expense payments that meet the Canada Revenue Agency definitions for the *Child Care Expenses Deduction*.
- There are a number of similar plans with different employee groups at the University. If both parents are employees of Queen's University and each parent is covered under this plan or under a separate plan, only one claim per child will be reimbursed by the University.
- Claims made under both Appendix E and Appendix F for the same child will have a combined maximum of \$2000.00 per child. Any amount payable under this plan will be prorated based on the employee's appointment if it is less than fulltime (e.g. 80% time appointment, 80% of \$2000.00). There is no carry-over provision if the \$2000.00 is not used per year.

- Eligible dependent children are natural, step, common-law or adopted children under the age of eleven (11).
- This is a taxable benefit.

APPENDIX G: SEVERANCE CHART

Completed Years of Continuous Service on Layoff Date	Regular Severance Pay (weeks of regular pay)
Less than 2	0
2	0
3	1
4	2
5	7
6	8
7	9
8	10
9	11
10	12
11	13
12	14
13	15
14	16
15	17
16	18
17	19
18	20
19	22
20	24
21	26
22	28
23	30
24	32
25 or more	35

Between Queen's University and Ontario Public Service Employees Union on behalf of its Local 452

RE: El Premium Reduction

This letter confirms the agreement between the Employer and the Union that the 5/12 employee portion of the University's EI premium reduction will be used by the University to support the following employee benefit plans, as set out in the Collective Agreement between OPSEU/SEFPO, Local 452 and the University:

- Short-Term Sick Leave
- Income top-up for pregnancy and parental leave;
- Child-Care Support

13 August 2024 | 8:49 AM EDT

Signed at ______this _____day of ______, 20___.

FOR THE EMPLOYER	FOR THE UNION
Francine Janiuk	Leanna Benton
Josli Graliam	Signed by BBFC433 Allelei McAlill
Julia Fournier	Jessica Waller
89074597468DF4E1	℃3
Lisa Walsh Doeustgneedbg4BC	-Sherri Haley - 5537355RD385E4FD
Sandra Valente Koscher F42F5DD988D44AB	Rionda Ferguson

Between Queen's University and Ontario Public Service Employees Union on behalf of its Local 452

RE: Salaries And Classifications

During the course of collective bargaining between Queen's University and Ontario Public Service Employees Union (OPSEU/SEFPO) on behalf of Local 452, the Union raised the issue of paying wages bi-weekly on every second Thursday to all Employees within the bargaining unit.

The University agrees to consider changing payroll frequency, in good faith, during the term of this agreement.

13 August 2024 | 8:49 AM EDT

Signed at	this	day of	, 20
FOR THE EMPLOYER DocuSigned by: <u>Francine Janiuk</u> Dictorsignad 1994D1	_	FOR THE UNION Signed by: Learna Benton Signed by 88FC433	
Josli Gralian Eleber Julia Fournier	_	<u>Mbbi McNeill</u> B ⁹ EP53BVEEE4A6 Issica Waller	
Lisa Walsh Docusigned by ABC	_	BOBERIGAEO 0054C3 Slumi Haley Exercisione de la FD	
Sandra Valente Koscher F42F5DD988D44AB		Klionda Ferguson	

Between Queen's University and Ontario Public Service Employees Union on behalf of its Local 452

Re: Recognition of Indigenous Peoples

During the course of collective bargaining between the Parties, there was acknowledgement that both sides are desirous of entering into discussions regarding the appropriate recognition of Indigenous Peoples in the Collective Agreement. There was a general understanding that more comprehensive discussions on this matter was required so that an appropriate level of consultation occurs with partners prior to any changes being made to the Collective Agreement.

As a result, the parties agreed that within three (3) months of ratification of the 2022 renewal collective agreement, they will meet and begin this critical dialogue.

Signed at	this	day of	, 20
FOR THE EMPLOYER DocuSigned by: Francine Janiuk PREEZERERESBANADI Josh Graham Bigoresb Dg.Ac 1846F Julia Fournier BSIGNE a 166880F4E1 Lisa Walsh Date Gestigne a 166880F4EC		FOR THE UNION Signed by: Leanna Benton Sugned Bog88FC433 MLLi MNUU Biperst 3800EEE4A6 Jussica Waller Bogetas Fgriegers 54C3 Sherri Haley Postsigned Boget Abur	
Sandra Valente Koscher F42F5DD988D44AB		flion La Ferguson 0448332AA85E429	

13 August 2024 | 8:49 AM EDT

Between Queen's University and Ontario Public Service Employees Union on behalf of its Local 452

Re: Paid Fifteen (15) Minutes Breaks

During the course of collective bargaining between Queen's University and Ontario Public Service Employees Union (OPSEU/SEFPO) on behalf of Local 452, the Union raised the issue of operationalizing paid fifteen (15) minute breaks as per Article 12.02 of the Collective Agreement.

The parties recognize the importance of balancing paid fifteen (15) minute breaks with the demands of operating an academic family health organization.

As such, at the Labour Management meeting post ratification of the 2022 renewal Collective Agreement, and as may be proposed as an agenda item at any subsequent Labour Management meeting, the first agenda item will be discussing joint recommendations regarding how to operationalize paid fifteen (15) minute breaks. The joint recommendations will be provided to senior leadership and may include barriers to operationalizing the paid fifteen (15) minute breaks.

	13 August 2024 8	:49 AM EDT	
Signed at	this	sday of	, 20
FOR THE EMPLOYER Docusigned by: <u>Francine Janiuk</u> <u>Pocusigned by:</u> Josh Graham Estigned by: 1846F Julia Fournier SignEd by: 680F4E1 Lisa Walsh Data Bigned 30:640F4E1 San dra Valente Kosch F42F50D988044AB	 	FOR THE UNION Signed by: Learna Benton Shinda By: BUCHASING BUCHASING BUCHASING BUCHASING Slurri Haley P3979589054284FD Kloon La Ferguse 0448332AAB5E429	<u> </u>

Between Queen's University and Ontario Public Service Employees Union on behalf of its Local 452

Re: After Hour Clinic Positions

- a) The hours of work for the <u>After Hours Clinic RPN</u> positions span Monday to Sunday with each day that is scheduled operating at least four (4) hours and up to eleven (11) hours worked.
- b) Employees assigned to work the eleven (11) hour shifts will be entitled to one (1) hour lunch break without pay, when the clinic closes for lunch (at approximately noon). In addition, they will be entitled to a paid fifteen (15) minute break in the morning. They will also be entitled to one (1) paid thirty (30) minute break before the After Hours Clinic commences. Breaks are to be taken at a convenient point in the flow of duties and employees are to ensure that breaks do not exceed the allotted time period. Paid break time cannot be accumulated and taken as time off.
- c) Employees assigned to the After-hours Clinic, will receive a shift premium as set out in Article 12.13 for those hours worked after 4:45 p.m. regardless of the 50% threshold as defined in the Article.
- d) Overtime will be applied for hours worked in excess of 70 hours in the two-week scheduling period.

13 August 2024 | 8:49 AM EDT

Signed at	this	day of	, 20
FOR THE EMPLOYER Docusigned by: Francine Janiuk DEERSEFFRENDBY4D1 Josh Graham ENBBBBYAC 1846F Julia Fournier Signed Walsh Decensigned Walsh		FOR THE UNION Signed by: Learna Benton Signed BY:88FC433 Mki McNill SIGFT533990EEE4A6 SIGFT533990EEE4A6 Muscus Waller Docessere66554C3 Ruonda Ferguson Docessere66554C3 Ruonda Ferguson Docessere6655429 Slurri Haley F537355BD34E4FD	

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT WITH RESPECT TO PENSIONS ("PENSION MOA")

Between:

THE ONTARIO PUBLIC SERVICE EMPLOYEES UNION AND ITS LOCAL 452 ("the Union")

- and –

QUEEN'S UNIVERSITY ("the University")

WHEREAS the Union and the University (the "Parties") have engaged in collective bargaining and have reached a tentative agreement regarding a Renewed Collective Agreement recorded in a memorandum of agreement of today's date (the "RENEWAL AGREEMENT MOA") and on all pension issues, including those related to the proposed conversion and transfer of assets from The Revised Pension Plan of Queen's University ("QPP") to a new sector-wide jointly sponsored pension plan, the University Pension Plan ("UPP") which is recorded in this PENSION MOA;

AND WHEREAS, following successful ratification by the Parties of both the RENEWAL AGREEMENT MOA and the PENSION MOA, the PENSION MOA shall be appended to and form part of the current Collective Agreement between the Parties and any renewal collective agreement that comes into effect before the UPP Accrual Date (defined below);

AND WHEREAS, the University has confirmed its intention to provide retirees with a prescription drug card on terms and conditions to be determined by the University, and subject to pre-conditions resulting in the successful conversion and transfer of assets from the QPP to the UPP and the successful completion of the active employee benefits RFP; and,

NOW, THEREFORE, the Parties agree as follows:

- 1. This PENSION MOA constitutes the entire agreement of the Parties with respect to pension matters, including the proposed conversion and transfer of assets from the QPP to the UPP.
- 2. The Union agrees, on behalf of all employees in the bargaining unit participating in or eligible to participate in the QPP and covered by the current Collective Agreement and any Renewal Collective Agreement to the conversion of the QPP to the UPP under section 80.4 of the *Pension Benefits Act*, including the transfer of the QPP's assets and liabilities to the UPP.

- 3. The Union agrees to support the University's application, when made, for the Superintendent of Financial Services' approval of the conversion and asset transfer from the QPP to the UPP.
- 4. Effective January 1, 2020, or, if later, the effective date of the UPP, Unionrepresented employees who are active members of QPP on that date shall become members of the UPP ("Contingent UPP Members"), provided that they shall not accrue any service under the UPP until the later of the date that the Superintendent of Financial Services (or his or her successor) approves a transfer of the assets from the QPP to the UPP and July 1, 2021 (or such other date as may be agreed by the parties) (the "UPP Accrual Date").
- 5. Union-represented employees who become members of the QPP on or after January 1, 2020 but before the UPP Accrual Date, will be enrolled in the UPP according to the UPP eligibility provisions and, upon enrolment, will become Contingent UPP Members.
- 6. Effective on the UPP Accrual Date, the Contingent UPP Members shall commence accruing pensionable service under and making contributions to the UPP in accordance with the terms of the UPP and shall no longer accrue pensionable service under, make contributions to, or have any entitlements or rights under the QPP and the QPP shall, as of the UPP Accrual Date, cease to exist as a separate pension plan.
- 7. Employees who are not members of the QPP as of the UPP Accrual Date will join or be eligible to join the UPP, as applicable, in accordance with its terms.
- 8. The terms of the UPP will be consistent with those terms set out in the Milestones Agreement amended as of October 18, 2018, and as the same may be amended from time to time in writing, and such other terms as are otherwise provided under the definitive documentation establishing the UPP, including but not limited to the elimination of the ability to commence a pension under Section 5.02(2) of the QPP for members who had not attained their Normal Retirement Date by the UPP Accrual Date.

Conditional Terms of Employment Effective on UPP Accrual Date

- 9. Provided the conditions in paragraphs 3 and 11 have been satisfied and the QPP has been successfully converted to the UPP:
 - a. Member/Employer Contributions under the UPP Effective on the UPP Accrual Date, the UPP total contributions will be

shared equally between the members and the employer (50/50), and subject to change thereafter as determined by the Sponsors of the UPP, including any funding policy developed by the Sponsors. It is anticipated that the contribution rate for the members and the employer on the UPP Accrual Date will each be 9.2% on pensionable earnings below the YMPE and 11.5% on pensionable earnings above the YMPE.

b. One Time Salary Increase

Effective on the UPP Accrual Date and upon the implementation of the contributions to the UPP described in paragraph a. above, a 1.5% special one-time salary adjustment to base earnings will be implemented.

c. Unreduced Early Retirement for Minimum Guarantee Benefit

Effective on the UPP Accrual Date for retirements occurring on and after the UPP Accrual Date, the QPP legacy provisions under the UPP shall be amended to provide for unreduced early retirement applicable to the Minimum Guarantee Benefit under the QPP earned prior to the UPP Accrual Date if a QPP member has both attained age 60 and has at least 80 age plus continuous service points on their retirement under the UPP.

d. Amendments to Renewal Collective Agreement

On or before the UPP Accrual Date, and effective on the UPP Accrual Date, the Renewal Collective Agreement and any further renewal collective agreement between the Parties in effect on the UPP Accrual Date, will be deemed for all purposes to be amended in a manner and to the extent necessary to reflect all of the terms and conditions of this PENSION MOA, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing:

- i. Deletion of references to the QPP in the Renewal Collective Agreement as set out in Schedule "A";
- ii. The incorporation of "no grievance and arbitration provisions" respecting pension matters i.e. any and all issues related to the UPP shall not constitute a "difference" between the parties for the purposes of the Ontario *Labour Relations Act* or any collective agreement between the Parties in effect on and after the UPP Accrual Date and must be addressed under the provisions of the UPP and whatever mechanism the Sponsors may implement for issues or disputes related to the UPP and that it is the intention of the Parties that an arbitrator appointed under the collective agreement shall have no jurisdiction to hear any grievance referred to arbitration or grant any remedy in any way related to the UPP; and
- iii. Acknowledgement that the terms and conditions of the UPP are not subject to collective bargaining, save and except for mutual agreement in writing to withdraw from the UPP pursuant to and in accordance with

the terms and conditions of the UPP, including any notice provisions, for doing so.

General Provisions

- 10. This PENSION MOA is expressly conditional on the contemporaneous execution, by the Parties, of the RENEWAL AGREEMENT MOA. If this condition is satisfied the PENSION MOA and RENEWAL AGREEMENT MOA are capable of being ratified by the Parties.
- 11. As soon as practicable following execution of the RENEWAL AGREEMENT MOA and the PENSION MOA, the Negotiating Committees of the Parties shall present both MOAs to their respective principals and will recommend unanimously the ratification of both memorandums of agreement.
- 12. Ratification by the University and the ratification vote by Union's membership of both the RENEWAL AGREEMENT MOA and the PENSION MOA shall occur as soon as practicable with the results of the Union membership ratification vote to be tabulated not later than September 30, 2019.
- 13. Upon the successful ratification of the RENEWAL AGREEMENT MOA and this PENSION MOA, this PENSION MOA will be effective in accordance with its terms and otherwise will be null and void and will not be implemented.
- 14. This MOA shall be appended to and form part of the Renewal Collective Agreement and any further renewal collective agreement in effect before the UPP Accrual Date and notwithstanding the grievance and arbitration provisions of any collective agreement, William Kaplan shall be seized as mediatorarbitrator of any issues related to the interpretation, application, administration or alleged violation of this PENSION MOA. If William Kaplan is unable or unwilling to serve as mediator-arbitrator than Eli Gedalof shall be seized as mediator-arbitrator.
- 15. Unless expressly provided for to the contrary, neither this PENSION MOA, nor any constituent part shall have any retroactive force or effect.
- 16. This PENSION MOA may be amended by the Parties, prior to ratification, by means of written instrument executed by the Chief Negotiator of both Parties.
- 17. In the event that there are any errors or omissions in this PENSION MOA, or in any of its constituent parts, the Parties shall make the amendments required to give effect to their negotiated intention. The Parties further agree to make

any housekeeping modifications to this PENSION MOA that are required to give effect to their negotiated intention.

13 August 2024 | 8:49 AM EDT

SIGNED THIS _____ DAY OF _____, 20____

QUEEN'S UNIVERSITY

DocuSigned by:

Francine Janiuk

Josh Graham

Julia Fournier - FSIOR FIELD 1000 SED F4 F1

lisa Walsh

B6E4\$151FE09854BC...

Sandra Valente Roscher - F42F5DD988D44AB...

THE ONTARIO PUBLIC SERVICE EMPLOYEES UNION AND ITS LOCAL 452 ("the Union)

-Signed by:

Leanna Benton

-951GA5605088FC433...

Meli McMill B/E/53390EEE4A6...

<u>Dierssigned by:</u> Scepaceosoftacs... Sluin Haly 5537355882454540...

Rionda Ferguson 0448332AA85E429...

Schedule "A"

Current Collective Agreement Pro	Proposed Treatment	
17.09 (a)(ii) Opt to retire if eligible under the terms of the University's pension plan as outlined in Article 22; or		Replace "University pension plan as outlined in Article 22; " with "University Pension Plan"
18.13 (g) The employee's participation in the <i>Revised</i> <i>Pension Plan of Queen's University</i> will continue with both employee and employer contributions as well as accrual of pensionable service during the period of Supported Maternity Leave.		Contributions to the UPP during leaves to be addressed in UPP text.
18.16 (f) The employee's participation in Pension Plan of Queen's Un continue with both employee ar contributions as well as accrual of service during the period of Suppor Leave.	Contributions to the UPP during leaves to be addressed in UPP text.	
23.02 Revised Pension Plan of Queen's (the "Pension Plan") The contribution to the Minimum Gua shall be as determined by a valuat by the Pension Plan's actua contribution shall be in accordar requirements of the Ontario Pens Act, RSO 1990, c P.8, as amende to time	Also delete "PENSION" from title of Article 23.	
(hereinafter, the " <i>Pension Benef</i> also shall not exceed the maxim that is permitted under the <i>Incol</i> RSO 1990, c P.8,as amended from (hereinafter, the " <i>Income Tax Act</i> "		
Effective Date	Current	
Up to the Canada Pension Plan Yearly Maximum Pensionable Earnings	7%	
Above the Canada Pension Plan Yearly Maximum Pensionable	9%	